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Directors' report for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31
December 2018.
Principal activities
The Bank is principally engaged in the Islamic banking business and related financial services. There have been no significant
changes in the principal activities during the financial year.
Holding companies
The Directors regard Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad ("SCBMB"), a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the immediate
holding company of the Bank and Standard Chartered PLC, a company incorporated in Great Britain, as the ultimate holding
company of the Bank.
Results
Profit before taxation
Tax expense
Profit for the year

RM'000
56,069
(13,093)
42,976

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the current financial year under review.
Reserves and provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the year, except as disclosed in the notes to financial
statements.
Bad and doubtful financing
Before the financial statements of the Bank were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that actions had been
taken in relation to the writing off of bad financing and the recognition of provisions for impaired financing, and satisfied themselves
that all known bad financing had been written off and adequate provisions made for impaired financing.
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the amount written off for bad
financing, or the amount of the provision for impaired financing in the financial statements of the Bank inadequate to any substantial
extent.
Current assets
Before the financial statements of the Bank were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that the value of any
current assets, other than financing, which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business, as shown in the financial
statements of the Bank, have been written down to an amount which they might be expected to realise.
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values attributed to the current
assets in the financial statements of the Bank misleading.
Valuation methods
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to the
existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities in the Bank's financial statements misleading or inappropriate.
Contingent and other liabilities
At the date of this report, there does not exist:(a) any charge on the assets of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year and which secures the liabilities of any
other person, or
(b) any contingent liabilities in respect of the Bank that have arisen since the end of the financial year other than in the ordinary
course of the banking business.
No contingent liability or other liability of the Bank has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within the period of
twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the
Bank to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

Page 1

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Change of circumstances
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial
statements of the Bank, that would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.
Items of an unusual nature
The results of the operations of the Bank for the financial year were not, in the opinion of the Directors, substantially affected by any
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of
a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Bank for
the current financial year in which this report is made.
Business plan and strategy
2018 Results
The Bank registered a pre-tax profit of RM56.07 million, a RM24.24 million increase against 2017 mainly attributable to the
improvement in provision for financing of RM28.97 million. In addition, operating expenses reduced by 4.45% year-on-year.
Financing and advances, including financing and advances funded by investment account placements, decreased marginally by
4.15% to RM5.31 billion. Meanwhile, deposits from customers grew RM97.23 million or 3.88% during the year.
As at 31 December 2018, the Bank continues to be well capitalised with Common Equity Tier 1 and Risk-weighted capital ratios of
23.491% and 27.685% respectively.
Strategy and Economic Environment
The global macroeconomic environment remains uncertain, stemming from the on-going trade war between the United States of
America ("US") and China, rate hike actions by the US Federal Reserve and the approaching deadline for Brexit.
Amidst this backdrop, the Malaysian economy achieved gross domestic product ("GDP") growth of 4.7% in 2018. Supported by
stronger than expected export growth, Malaysia total trade in 2018 remained resilient, expanding by 5.9% to RM1.876 trillion,
compared with RM1.771 trillion in 2017.
Latest forecasts for 2019 sees GDP growing 4.9% while exports growth expected to be 3.9%, driven by manufacturing sector and
expected rebound in commodities demand.
Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM") raised the Overnight Policy Rate ("OPR’") by 25 basis points to 3.25% in January 2018, its first hike
since July 2014, but has maintained the rate at this level since then.
Meanwhile, the Malaysian Ringgit had a mixed performance in 2018. The first quarter saw the Ringgit steadily gaining in strength,
trading close to 3.85 against the US Dollar in March 2018. However, escalating trade tensions saw a flight away from Emerging
Market ("EM") assets, resulting in a gradual decline in the Ringgit to above 4.1 by the third quarter, although the decline was less
severe than the other EM currencies. The last two months of the year has seen some uptick in Ringgit performance and the current
market consensus is for the Ringgit to trend towards the 4.0 level against the US Dollar.
Plan for 2019
Saadiq will continue to be an integral part of SCBMB’s strategic agenda to build sustainable income momentum and deliver optimal
returns via Islamic Banking solutions.
The Retail Banking business will focus on enriching its value proposition and distribution capability to drive growth. We will target
Priority, Premium, Business Banking and Employee Banking segments by offering Deposits, Wealth Management, Business
Finance, and Personal Finance solutions. Increasing Branch productivity remains a top priority, while continuing to leverage strongly
on the Digital agenda.
Bank's Corporate and Commercial Banking will focus on driving flow business through transaction banking and trade finance. We
will enhance liquidity management solutions, leverage trade corridors and Saadiq foot print across Asia, Africa, and Middle East for
cross border Capital Market and Corporate Finance transactions.
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Business plan and strategy (continued)
Corporate Social Responsibility ("CSR") Activities and Achievements
The Bank is committed to promoting economic and social development in the markets the Bank serves, doing so sustainably and
equitably in line with the Bank's purpose and three valued behaviours: ‘Never settle’, ‘Better together’ and ‘Do the right thing'. The
Bank focuses on three key areas: contributing to sustainable economic growth, being a responsible company and investing in
communities.The Bank's sustainability aspirations build on these pillars with a set of actions and measurable targets. These help the
Bank track sustainable outcomes across the Bank's business, and particularly through the banking services the Bank provides to
individuals and companies across the Bank's markets.
Community engagement is a key way in which the Bank takes forward this commitment. Investing in communities includes two
components: employee volunteering and community programmes. The Bank also supports emergency relief and reconstruction
efforts across the markets. The Bank’s community programmes focus on two themes: health and education, with youth as a target
demographic.
The initiatives of the Bank are closely aligned to that of SCBMB and are summarised below:-

-

-

-

-

-

Goal , SCBMB's global education programme for adolescent girls, combines sports with life-skills training to empower girls with
the confidence, knowledge and skills they need to be integral economic leaders in their families and communities. In 2018, 80
secondary school girls graduated as Goal girls after going through the full Goal 17-week module. The modules are ‘Be Money
Savvy’ focuses on financial education. ‘Be Yourself’ develops communication skills; ‘Be Healthy’ builds knowledge on health and
hygiene, and ‘Be Empowered’ teaches girls confidence and life skills. Certified by the Ministry of Education, SCBMB is the first
corporate organisation in Malaysia to embark on a programme with a singular focus on adolescent girls which complements
Malaysian schools co-curriculum’s activities. Since its launch in August 2017, Goal Malaysia has reached close to 3,000 girls to
date.
Through Financial Education, SCBMB aims to foster positive financial behaviour of young people and entrepreneurs. SCBMB’s
Education for Entrepreneurs programme aims to build the financial capability of micro and small business owners that will
contribute towards SCBMB’s success and sustainability. In 2018, SCBMB reached about 39 entrepreneurs through SCBMB's
partnership with NGOs. SCBMB’s employee volunteers also deliver “Buku Wang Saku”, Bank Negara Malaysia’s financial
education initiative, designed specially for students as a learning tool to instill the culture and habit of smart personal money
management. In 2018, it has reached out to over 1,000 students and youth across Malaysia.
Islamic Banking Financial Education: In recognition of the importance of Islamic Banking, a module on Islamic Banking has been
added to the Bank’s Financial Education for Youth programme. The Islamic Banking modules will be delivered by volunteers who
are knowledgeable in Islamic Banking, mainly from the Bank's employees. Volunteering to deliver the Islamic Banking modules is
a skills-based volunteering activity that focuses on the volunteer’s time and expertise to give back to the community. The Islamic
Banking modules consist of a basic and advanced module with the basic module targeting youth up to the age of 16 and the
advanced module targeting youth aged 16 and above. While many banks offer financial education programmes, the Bank sets
itself apart by offering a module dedicated to Islamic Banking that targets youth as well as adults.
Seeing is Believing is SCBMB’s flagship community programme which provides funding to tackle avoidable blindness and visual
impairment across the globe. 2018 marks the Bank’s Seeing is Believing’s 15th anniversary and the achievement of its USD100
million goal, two years ahead of schedule. In Malaysia, SCBMB raised over RM90,000 for Seeing is Believing. A Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU) was signed between SCBMB and the Ministry of Health to help restore sight to underprivileged cataract
patients across Malaysia. Under the MoU, SCBMB donated RM220,000 that translates to approximately 1,000 intraocular lenses
to benefit underprivileged communities in the rural areas of the country, particularly Sabah, Sarawak and the East Coast.
SCBMB also actively supports the community through Employee Volunteering. In 2018, staff in Malaysia volunteered over 1,200
days towards the community.
SCBMB has been the title sponsor of the Standard Chartered KL Marathon since 2009 and remains committed to raising levels
of health and community participation of the nation. SCBMB has hosted more than 500 visually-impaired runners to run with
SCBMB’s employees since its inception. The Bank's staff-volunteers ran with 32 visually-impaired runners from the Malaysian
Association for the Blind.
In addition, the Bank is one of the nine Islamic Banks (Community of Practitioners) to help drive the Value-based Intermediation
("VBI") initiative by BNM. VBI is an important initiative in moving the Islamic financial industry to the next level of growth that is
sustainable, with clear value propositions. It is aimed at strengthening the roles and impact of Islamic banking institutions in
generating positive and sustainable impact to the economy, community and environment; through their practices, offerings and
conduct without compromising the financial returns to shareholders.
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Statement of Corporate Governance
The Bank is committed to high standards of corporate governance and strives to continually improve the governance processes and
structures as articulated in the Principles and Best Practices promulgated in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
(the "Code") as well as in conformity with BNM Policy Document on Corporate Governance (the "BNM Policy Document") issued by
BNM in August 2016. The Board is pleased to set out below how the Bank has adhered to the aforesaid principles of the Code and
the extent to which the Bank has complied in all material aspects with the best practices of the Code and BNM Policy Document
during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
Board of Directors
Composition of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors (the "Board") brings a wealth of knowledge, experience and skills in a wide range of business management,
audit and accountancy, economics, finance and Islamic banking to the Board. The Board presently has five (5) members, of which
two (2) are Executive Directors and the remaining three (3) are Independent Non-Executive Directors, hence fulfilling the prescribed
requirements by BNM for the Board composition to comprise a majority of Independent Board members.
Members
Datuk Yvonne Chia - Chairman
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Abrar Alam Anwar (appointed on 24 January 2018)
Rehan Muhammad Shaikh (appointed on 24 January 2018)
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas (resigned on 31 January 2019)

Status of Directorship
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Non-Independent Executive Director
Non-Independent Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director

The current composition and size of the Board is appropriate and commensurate with the complexity, scope and operations of the
Bank. The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Bank fulfill the criteria of independence as defined in the BNM Policy
Document.
All the members of the Board fulfill the standards for 'fit and proper' criteria for appointment as Directors required under the Bank's
Framework for Board's Composition and Criteria For Selection of Candidates for Directorship (the "Framework") as established in
accordance with the BNM Policy Document on Fit and Proper Criteria. The Framework has also set out the tenure of an Independent
Director which shall not exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years. However, upon completion of the nine (9) years, the Independent
Director may continue to serve the Board subject to the Director’s re-designation as a Non-Independent Director.
Roles and responsibilities of the Board
Besides carrying out its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves the Bank's long-term objectives and commercial strategy and
the annual operating budget. It oversees the management of the business and the Bank's affairs and regularly monitors the Bank's
performance against budget and plans. Matters reserved for the Board's decision include major investments, strategic plans,
business plans, key financial and operating policies, financial results and corporate governance matters. The Board carries out
various functions and responsibilities laid down in guidelines and directives that are issued by BNM from time to time. The Board
also operates under the approved terms of reference which set out their roles and responsibilities towards the Bank.
In compliance with the BNM Policy Document, there is a clear separation between the roles of Independent Non-Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Bank. The distinction allows an appropriate balance of roles, responsibilities, authority
and accountability at the Board level.
Appointments to the Board
The appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the Bank's Board had been approved by BNM pursuant to the Islamic Financial
Services Act 2013 ("IFSA") and are in compliance with the BNM Policy Document.
In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, all newly appointed Directors during the financial year are subjected to reelection by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting. The Articles further provides for one-third of the remaining Directors to
retire from office by rotation and be subjected to re-election at the Annual General Meeting of the Bank. As guided by BNM Policy
Document, re-appointment or re-election of Directors are made with the prior approval from BNM.
Board's conduct of its affairs and Board meetings
The Board meetings of the Bank are conducted in accordance to a structured agenda to facilitate meaningful and productive
deliberations. The structured agenda for every Board meeting together with comprehensive management reports, proposal papers
and supporting documents are distributed to the Directors in advance of all Board meetings to allow time for their appropriate review.
The Board meeting papers are prepared and presented in a concise and comprehensive manner. All proceedings from the Board
meetings are minuted and confirmed by all Directors at the following Board meeeting. The minutes would then be signed by the
Chairman as a correct record to the proceeding of the meeting.
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Board of Directors (continued)
Board's conduct of its affairs and Board meetings (continued)
A Shariah Committee nominated by the Chairperson of the Shariah Committee together with the Secretary of the Shariah Committee
are permanent invitees to the Board Meetings to advise the Board Members on Shariah related matters. Their views are sought on
matters related to Shariah.
Frequency and attendance of each Director at Board meetings
The Board meets regularly and has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision. Meetings for the year are
scheduled early in the year with due notice given for all scheduled meetings. During the financial year 2018, the Board met six (6)
times to deliberate on and consider a variety of significant matters that required its guidance and approval. Relevant management
personnel are invited to Board meetings to report and appraise the Board on financials, operations and other developments within
their respective purview. Where appropriate, decisions are taken by way of circular resolutions in between scheduled meetings.
All Directors have complied with the requirement that Directors must attend at least 75% of Board meetings held in the financial year
in accordance with the BNM Policy Document. The record of the attendance at the Board Meetings is as follows:-

Members
Datuk Yvonne Chia
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Abrar Alam Anwar
Rehan Muhammad Shaikh
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas (resigned on 31 January 2019)

Attendance and Number
of Board Meetings
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6

Training and Development of Directors
During the financial year 2018, the members of the Board have received training on areas relevant to their duties and responsibilities
as Directors by attending internally facilitated briefings and external seminars/talks. The Directors have also attended talks, dialogue
sessions and focus group sessions organised by Financial Institutions Directors’ Education ("FIDE") Forum as well as the key
training programme for new Directors of the Bank by FIDE. In addition, one new Director has undertaken an induction programme
facilitated by the Company Secretary.
Training programmes, conferences and forums attended by the Directors for the financial year 2018 were as follows:FIDE/ICLIF/FIDE Forum
- BNM-FIDE FORUM DIALOGUE: Managing Cyber Risks in Financial Institutions
- FIDE Core Programme (Module A and B)
- 1st Distinguished Board Leadership Series & BNM-FIDE FORUM Focus Group Discussion
- Credit Risk Management
- BNM-FIDE Forum Board Conversation dialogue with Senior Officials of BNM
Other External Seminars/Conferences
- International Construction Transformation Conference ("ICTC") – Achieving Peak Industry
- Executive Masterclass (Property Development - Sales & Marketing Management) Taught by C-Suites and Industry Leaders and
Second Module – Product Development, Branding
- Digital Transformation throughout the Property Lifecycle
- Cainiao Global Smart Logistics Summit
- The 22nd Malaysian Banking Summit
- Leading Change - A Personal Journey
- Financial Sector Talent Enrichment Programme ("FSTEP") Prominent Leader session
- Asian Banking School – Cambridge Summer School Programme
- Future Forward Forum 2018
- Chartered & Fellowship Masterclass ("CFM")
- Islamic Finance for Board of Directors Programme
- Annual Property Developers Conference (CEO Series 2018)
- Attracting Investments into Malaysia: Developing Malaysia as an International Real Estate Investment Destination
- Open Dialogue with the Minister of Housing & Local Government – Seeking True Value in the Property Market
- Annual General Meeting of World Energy Cities Partnership ("WECP") – Mayor’s Track
– Collaborative Actions through using Best Practices of Smart Sustainable Cities towards a Vibrant Green Economy & Industry
4.0 in Cities
- 7-Day NLP Practitioner Certification Workshop with Dr Heidi Heron
- Demystifying Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Advanced Applications and Opportunities for the Media Industry
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Board of Directors (continued)
Training and Development of Directors (continued)
Other External Seminars/Conferences (continued)
- Construction Industry Development Board ("CIDB") and Chartered Institute of Building ("CIOB") Novus Youth Arena Malaysia
Challenges of the Young Professionals for the Built Environment: Professionalism towards Excellence Industry Forum Group
Discussion
- FORBES Global CEO Conference – The World Reboots
- The Trinity Forum – The Global Airport Commercial Revenues Conference. The changing airport & travel retail commercial ecosystem
- Seminar on the Malaysia Property Market – New Governance & Budget 2019
- Airport Council International ("ACI") Airport Exchange
- Lean In UnConference 2018
- Director's Training by S. Saravana Kumar from Lee Hishamudin:
i) Director's obligations under the Income Tax Act 1967
ii) The New Service Tax (including transition) legislations and issues; and
iii) Litigation Tax Cases - Special Commissioners/ Tribunal versus Judicial Review
Internal Training Programmes
- Global Research Briefing 2018
- Executive Leadership (Huts & Cohort 1)
- David Conner & Guy's Joint Call with the Banking Subsidiary Risk Committees
- Jose Vinals: Call with Subsidiary Board Directors
- Annual Dialogue Session with Shariah Advisers
- Retail Credit Risk Briefing
Apart from attending the various programmes, a number of the Directors have also been invited to speak at conferences and
seminars organised by professional associations and bodies.
Key information and background of Directors
The Bank is led by an experienced Board comprising members from diverse backgrounds and collectively has a wide range of
business and management experience, knowledge and capabilities in areas that include banking, financial services, accounting and
economics.
(a)

Datuk Yvonne Chia
Datuk Yvonne Chia was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 August 2016 and was subsequently
appointed as Chairman on 24 February 2017. She is also a member of the Audit Committee, Risk Committee and Nomination
and Remuneration Committee of the Bank. She has over 30 years of experience in the financial services industry, having held
leading positions in both global and domestic banks in Malaysia and the region. She is currently the Chairman and
Independent Non-Executive Director of Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad and an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad and Silverlake Axis Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of Singapore
Stock Exchange. She is a Fellow Chartered Banker, Council Member of the Asian Institute of Chartered Bankers, a Trustee
for Teach for Malaysia Foundation and an Honorary Professor of the University of Nottingham, Malaysia School of
Economics. Datuk Yvonne Chia holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Malaya.

(b)

Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 13 July 2011. He is the
Chairman of Board Risk Committee as well as a member of Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee
of the Bank. He qualified as a professional corporate member and Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Building and also as a
Fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Malaysia following his graduation in building and management studies
from the University of Westminster, London in 1979. He is currently the Managing Director and CEO of Impetus Alliance
Advisor Sdn Bhd. He is also the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad and
Paramount Corporation Berhad as well as an Independent Non-Executive Director on the Boards of Cahya Mata Sarawak
Berhad and Malaysia Property Incorporated. He is the incumbent Chairman of InvestKL Malaysia and the immediate past
President and patron of the Real Estate and Housing Developers’ Association Malaysia. He also serves as a member of the
Board of Trustees of Standard Chartered Foundation.

(c)

Abrar Alam Anwar
Abrar Alam Anwar was appointed to the Board on 24 January 2018 as an Executive Director and he is currently the Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer for Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad. Prior to his appointment in Malaysia,
Abrar was the Chief Executive Officer of Standard Chartered Bank, Bangladesh, since January 2015. He joined the Bank in
2011 as Head of Corporate & Institutional Clients. Abrar has more than 26 years of experience in Corporate and Investment
banking in Bangladesh, India and the UK. His achievements include setting up of the first “Syndication & Structured Finance”
business in Bangladesh (for the then ANZ Grindlays Bank), along with successful closure of milestone transactions in the
Energy & Power, Infrastructure, Telecommunications and Aviation industries. Prior to joining Standard Chartered Bangladesh
he was the Managing Director & Head of Global Corporate & Commercial Banking, Citibank NA, Bangladesh and Head of
Specialist Finance & Advisory Services, ANZ Grindlays Bank. Abrar holds a MBA degree from Bangladesh’s premier
business school, the Institute of Business Administration (IBA).
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Board of Directors (continued)
Key information and background of Directors (continued)
(d)

Rehan Muhammad Shaikh
Rehan Muhammad Shaikh was appointed to the Board on 24 January 2018 as an Executive Director and he is currently the
Chief Executive Officer of Standard Chartered Saadiq, the Global Islamic Banking business of Standard Chartered Bank,
Dubai, UAE. Rehan has over 30 years of banking and management experience, re-joining from Dubai Islamic Bank, where
he was Senior Vice President and Business Head. In his earlier career with Standard Chartered Bank, Pakistan from 1998 to
2006, he had held a number of roles including Head, Corporate Banking and Head, Client Relationships. Rehan is
responsible to drive the growth of Standard Chartered’s Islamic Banking business across its core markets, supporting the
Bank’s new strategy in creating a focused and more profitable bank. Standard Chartered Saadiq offers to clients a wide suite
of product capabilities and award winning solutions across the corporate, commercial and retail spectrum. Since inception, the
business has won over 200 internationally recognized industry awards. Rehan holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from USA.

(e)

Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman was appointed to the Board of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad on 1
April 2019 as an Independent Non-Executive Director. He is also a Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Board Risk Committee. He is currently the Chief Executive Officer of The
Malaysian Insurance Institute and also sits on the Board of Credit Guarantee Corporation Malaysia Berhad (“CGC”), Credit
Bureau Malaysia Sdn Bhd (“CBM”) as well as Board of Trustees, ASEAN Insurance, Training and Research Institute. He is
also an Adjunct Professor at the School of Business and Management, Universiti Teknologi MARA. His career in the
conventional insurance, reinsurance and Takaful industry spans over 42 years, where he helmed several local and multinational direct insurance, reinsurance and Takaful companies. He was a Past Chairman of the Malaysian Takaful Association
and Management Committee member of the General Insurance Association of Malaysia. Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb is a Fellow
of the Malaysian Insurance Institute as well as Senior Associate CIP of the Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance
and Finance. He is also a member of the Chartered Institute of Islamic Finance Professionals.

The Board has established specialised Board Committees to assist to carry out its responsibilities more effectively and provide
oversight over the Bank's operations. The Board Committees of the Bank are as follows:a)
b)
c)
d)

Shariah Committee (formerly known as Shariah Advisory Committee)
Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Audit Committee
Board Risk Committee

These committees operate under clearly defined terms of reference approved by the Board and the Board receives reports of their
proceedings and deliberations. These committees have the authority to examine certain issues and report back to the Board with
their recommendations. Ultimately, the Board is responsible for making the final decisions on all matters.
a) Shariah Committee
Membership and composition
The members of the Shariah Committee ("SC") are:Dr. Hikmatullah Babu Sahib - Chairperson
Dr. Wan Azhar Wan Ahmad - Deputy Chairperson
Ustaz Abdul Latif Ahmad Subki
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Zurina Shafii
Sheikh Muhammad Abdul Mubeen (appointed on 25 February 2018)
Dr. Akhtarzaite Abdul Aziz (resigned on 7 February 2018)
Main Responsibilities of the Shariah Committee
The SC advises the Board of the Bank on Shariah matters.
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Committees (continued)
a) Shariah Committee (continued)
Responsibilities of the Shariah Committee
1. To endorse, approve and review all Islamic Banking products and services offered by the Bank. The SC's approval is thus
required on all Product Programme documents, Product Development documents, Country Addendums, Transaction
Programmes and the subsequent reviews of these documents.
2. To advise and review the operations of the Bank to ensure that it is in compliance with the Shariah principles.
3. To guide and review the Bank’s Islamic Banking practice. The SC must therefore approve all legal contracts, agreements and
documentation. Similarly, all marketing materials, sales illustrations, advertisements and brochures must carry the SC's
approval.
4. To satisfy itself that the formulated endorsements, approvals, advice and guidelines are being properly undertaken by the
Bank.
5. To provide guidance and advice upon request from the Bank’s legal counsel, auditors and consultants. In addition, to provide
written opinions on Shariah matters to the Bank as required from time to time.
6. To advise the Chairman of the Board on matters that require consultation from the BNM’s Shariah Advisory Council ("SAC")
and to prepare a written opinion when such matter is referred to the BNM's SAC.
7. To review the terms of reference of the SC from time to time and propose to the Board of the Bank any change that it
considers appropriate.
Shariah Compliance Review
1. Suitable Shariah Compliance Manuals have been prepared and reviewed by the Committee from time to time covering all
products and services introduced by the Bank to the market. The Shariah Compliance Manuals shall guide the Bank's
officers and personnel in ensuring its standard operating procedures and practices are in compliance with Shariah principles.

2. Shariah Compliance Review unit is an independent unit reporting directly to the SC on any Shariah Non-Compliance issues
and findings.
3. Shariah Compliance Review's main scope is to conduct regular assessment on the compliance of the operations, business,
affairs and activities of the Bank with Shariah requirements set by the SC as per the Shariah Compliance Manuals.

Shariah Risk Management
Shariah non-compliance risk refers to financial or non-financial loss including legal, regulatory sanctions and reputational
damage arising from failure to comply with the rulings of the SAC of BNM, BNM's standards on Shariah contracts, the SAC of the
Securities Commission and the Bank's SC. This risk is an integral part of operational risk.
Islamic Law forms the basis of Shariah principles, to which if not complied, will result in a Shariah non-compliance event. Noncompliance with Shariah principles may result in Shariah non-compliant income which needs to be purified. It also exposes the
Bank to legal, fiduciary and reputational risks. The Bank’s Head of Shariah is identified as the Risk Owner for this risk under the
Bank’s Operational Risk Framework.
Shariah non-compliance risk is managed through a framework of risk management policies and procedures originating from
Standard Chartered PLC Group for operational risk that drive the Bank’s risk management approach. It is done through a tenstep process of (i) Benchmark and set standards, (ii) Process universe, (iii) Risk identification, (iv) Gross risk assessment, (v)
Control design assessment, (vi) Control operational assessment, (vii) Residual risk assessment, (viii) Risk acceptance and
treatment, (ix) Risk and control monitoring and (x) Risk reporting. This ten step management process is performed at all levels
across the Bank and is the foundation of the management approach.
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Committees (continued)
a) Shariah Committee (continued)
Shariah Risk Management (continued)
The Bank uses several mechanisms to control Shariah non-compliance risk which include:
• Approval of Country Addendums for each product to ensure all risks associated with the product is identified and assessed.
• Distribution of Shariah Compliance Manuals to all applicable units of the Bank to serve as a guide to all relevant staff on
Shariah requirements.
• Performance of Operational Risk Assessment for all new products / variations made to existing products, where Shariah
failure points are identified and controls implemented.
• Scripts, templates and operational checklists are embedded with Shariah requirements to prevent operational lapses.
• The assurance process, which include Key Control Self Assessment ("KCSA") and Control Sample Test ("CST"), are
performed across all business, segments , operations and support to check on control effectiveness specific to Shariah
controls.
• Annual Shariah audit and regular Shariah compliance reviews.
• Continuous training on Islamic products and Shariah requirements to all relevant staff handling Islamic banking activities and
operations.
Potential Shariah non-compliance events are identified from various sources. Any Shariah-related issues identified are assessed
by the Bank’s Qualified Shariah Officer ("QSO") and in the event the issue is classified as a potential Shariah non-compliance
event, it shall be escalated to the SC for decision and approval of the action taken or rectification plan. Actual Shariah noncompliance event is further reported to the Board for approval as per Shariah Governance Framework for Islamic Financial
Institutions issued by BNM ("BNM Guidelines"). The SC and the Board are updated on completion of the rectification plan.
All actual Shariah non-compliance events are also assessed using Country Operational Risk Assessment Matrix ("CORAM") and
Group Risk Assessment Matrix ("GRAM") respectively, where the event is assigned a risk rating of either Very High, High,
Medium, Low and Very Low based on the assessments of likelihood and impact. The progress on rectification actions for all
actual Shariah non-compliance events is tracked in the Bank’s Business Operational Risk Committee ("BORC") and higher risk
authority which is Country Non-Financial Risk Committee ("CNFRM") for events that are rated Medium and higher. This ensures
strong governance over the management and oversight of Shariah non-compliance risk.
Shariah Non-Compliant Income
Shariah non-compliant income is income generated or received from events that are non-compliant to Shariah rules and
principles, for example, profit charges from transactions with invalid Shariah contracts and income derived from Shariah noncompliant business.
Any Shariah non-compliant income identified must be escalated to the SC for their decision on the appropriate course of action.
During the financial period, there was only one (2017: six) Shariah non-compliant event. There was Shariah non-compliant
income amounting to RM4,794 (2017: RM5,850) from an event classified as a Shariah non-compliant event in 2017 and
approved as Shariah non-compliant income by the Bank's SC in 2018. The Bank has channelled an amount of RM10,644 (2017:
nil) to charity.
Additional control measures to prevent recurrence of Shariah non-compliant events include process and control improvements,
certification in Islamic Banking for staff handling Islamic Banking transactions and continuous training to enhance staff
awareness on Shariah requirements.
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STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
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Committees (continued)
a) Shariah Committee (continued)
Frequency and attendance of each Shariah Committees at Shariah Committee meetings
All SC have complied with the requirement that SC must attend at least 75% of SC meetings held in the financial year in
accordance with the BNM Guidelines. The attendance of the members are as follows:Members
Dr. Hikmatullah Babu Sahib - Chairperson
Dr. Wan Azhar Wan Ahmad - Deputy Chairperson
Ustaz Abdul Latif Ahmad Subki
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Zurina Shafii
Sheikh Muhammad Abdul Mubeen (appointed on 25 February 2018)
Dr. Akhtarzaite Abdul Aziz (resigned on 7 February 2018)

Attendance and Number of Meetings
8/9
9/9
9/9
8/8
8/8
1/1

b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The former Nomination Committee ("NC") was established on 27 November 2008. In accordance with Paragraph 12.1 of the
BNM Policy Document whereby all financial institutions must establish a board remuneration committee, the Board has on 1
December 2016 approved the set up of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee ("NRC"). The NRC is a combined board
nomination committee and board remuneration committee as allowed by the BNM Policy Document under Paragraph 12.2.
Membership and composition
The members of the NRC are:Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy - Chairman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Yvonne Chia
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas - Chairman (resigned on 31 January 2019)
All of the NRC members are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Functions and responsibilities and terms of reference
The terms of reference of the NRC was approved by the Board on 1 December 2016 and revised on 21 February 2017.
The primary functions of the NRC are to assist the Board to:• bring recommendations to the Board as to the minimum requirements (including skills, experience, qualifications and
competencies) for appointees to the Board and for the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO");
• regularly review the overall structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and compliance with
best corporate governance practices) of the Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any adjustments
that are deemed necessary;
• assess and recommend for the approval of the board, board committee members and Shariah Advisors. This includes
assessing directors and Shariah Advisors for re-appointment, before an application for approval is submitted to BNM;
• determine and implement a process for the evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the Board and of each
director, the Board committees, the CEO and senior management officers, based on performance criteria approved by the
• determine the fit and proper criteria of the directors, Shariah Advisors and senior management prior to their appointment and
on an annual basis;
• ensure that all directors and senior management receive adequate induction programmes and continuous education to better
enable them to fulfil their responsibilities;
• support the Board in actively overseeing the design and operation of the Bank’s remuneration system; and
• approve the remuneration for each director, senior management including material risk takers on annual basis and regularly
review the list of material risk takers.
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STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Committees (continued)
b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee (continued)
In 2018, the NRC made assessment for the appointment of two (2) directors. The Committee was convinced that the new
appointment of directors would assist in achieving a mix of Board members that represents a diversity of backgrounds and
experiences that would best complement the current Board effectively and as part of the Board succession plan.
For 2018, the Board has adopted a self-evaluation initiative to evaluate the performance of the Board and its committees. The
purpose of the evaluation is to determine whether the Board and its committees are functioning effectively and to increase the
effectiveness of the Board. By including individual directors, the evaluation is intended to capitalise on the strengths that each
director brings to the Board and enhance each director’s contribution.
Number of meetings held
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee ("NRC") meets at least twice a year and during the financial year 2018, the
committee met six (6) times and the attendance of the NRC members are as follows:
Members
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Datuk Yvonne Chia
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak Imam Abas - Chairman (resigned on 31 January 2019)

Attendance and Number of Meetings
6/6
6/6
6/6

c) Audit Committee
The Audit Committee ("AC") was established on 27 November 2008.
Membership and composition
The members of the AC are:Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman - Chairman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Datuk Yvonne Chia (appointed on 27 February 2018)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas - Chairman (resigned on 31 January 2019)
All of the AC members are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Terms of Reference
The terms of reference of the AC was revised and approved by the Board on 22 September 2010 and its latest revision was on
21 February 2017.
The primary functions of the AC are to assist the Board to:• review and monitor the appropriateness and completeness of statutory accounts and published financial statements of the
Company and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance, including significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them;
• review the internal financial controls and systems as well as monitor and assess the role and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function and to receive reports from the Head of Audit on these matters;
• consider the appointment, re-appointment, dismissal or resignation of the external auditors and make appropriate
recommendations, through the board, to shareholders to consider at the annual general meeting concerning the reappointment of the external auditors;
• review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and develop and implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditors to supply non-audit services;
• review the annual report including the corporate governance disclosures, the interim financial reports and the annual financial
statements and discuss any findings and other matters arising from the external auditors’ interim and final audits;
• review reports from the Chief Compliance Officer on the arrangements established by management for ensuring adherence to
internal compliance policies and procedures and compliance with specific laws and regulations, as requested by the
Committee or required by laws and regulations;
• consider the appointment, performance, evaluation, transfer, resignation or removal of the Head of Audit and Chief
Compliance Officer; and
• receive and review, at least annually, a report on money laundering and financial crime produced by the Bank’s Money
Laundering Reporting Officer and any specific actions taken by senior management in relation to the report.
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Committees (continued)
c) Audit Committee (continued)
Number of meetings held
The AC meets on a quarterly basis and during the financial year 2018, the committee met five (5) times and the attendance of the
members are as follows:-

Members
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman - Chairman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
Datuk Yvonne Chia (appointed on 27 February 2018)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas - Chairman (resigned on 31 January 2019)

Attendance and Number of
Meetings
5/5
4/4
5/5

d) Board Risk Committee
The Board Risk Committee ("BRC") was established on 27 November 2008.
Membership and composition
The members of the BRC are:Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy - Chairman
Datuk Yvonne Chia (appointed on 27 February 2018)
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas (resigned on 31 January 2019)
All of the BRC members are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Terms of Reference
The terms of reference of BRC was subsequently revised and approved by the Board on 13 October 2009 and its latest revision
was approved on 21 February 2017.
The primary functions of the BRC are to assist the Board to:• review and recommend those policies which are reserved for the Board’s approval, risk management strategies, and risk
tolerance for the Board’s approval;
• review and assess adequacy of risk management framework and policies, identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling
risk and the extent to which these are operating effectively;
• ensure infrastructure, resources and systems are in place for risk management i.e. to ensure that the staff responsible for
implementing risk management systems perform those duties independently of the financial institutions’ risk taking activities;
• review management’s periodic reports on risk exposures, risk portfolio composition, risk rating systems, risk appetite, stress
testing and risk management activities;
• examine whether incentives provided by the remuneration system take into consideration risks, capital, liquidity and the
likelihood and timing of earnings, without prejudice to the tasks of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
• ensure that there is effective risk management process to address any unique Shariah contracts requirements; and
• appoint, evaluate performance and decide on the dismissal of Country Chief Risk Officer.
Number of meetings held
The BRC meets on a quarterly basis and during the financial year 2018, the committee met six (6) times and the attendance of
the members are as follows:Members
Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy - Chairman
Datuk Yvonne Chia (appointed on 27 February 2018)
Dato’ Haji Syed Moheeb bin Syed Kamarulzaman (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas (resigned on 31 January 2019)

Attendance and Number of Meetings
6/6
4/4
6/6
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Risk Management
A refreshed approach to managing risk
Risk management is a dynamic process. Market-wide and company specific factors constantly reshape the Bank's business
environment. It is critical that the Bank's risk management approach continues to evolve and develop to meet the ever-changing risk
landscape facing the Bank's business, to ensure it remains relevant and effective in generating safe and sustainable performance
and growth for the Bank.
Revised Enterprise Risk Management Framework
A revised Enterprise Risk Management Framework was approved by the SC and the Board in September 2018 for implementation.
This allows the Bank to identify and manage risks holistically, ensuring the appropriate governance, oversight and information is in
place to run a safe, secure and well-controlled organisation. The Bank is continuing to develop a well-defined, healthy risk culture
that is understood across the Bank, as well as a clear control framework with sharper delineation of responsibilities between the
three lines of defence.
Risk Culture
A healthy risk culture is an enterprise level ability to identify and assess current and future risks, openly discuss and take prompt
actions. It encourages the following behaviours and outcomes:
• An enterprise level ability to identify and assess current and future risks, openly discuss these and take prompt actions;
• The highest level of integrity by being transparent and proactive in disclosing and managing all types of risks;
• A constructive and collaborative approach in providing oversight and challenge, and taking decisions in a timely manner; and
• Everyone to be accountable for their decisions and feel safe using their judgement to make these considered decisions.
Three Lines of Defence
The Bank applies three lines of defence to its risk management and control framework. The first line of defence refers to the
businesses and functions engaged in or supporting revenue generating activities that own and manage risks. The second line of
defence (refers to the control functions) performs independent challenge, monitoring and oversight of the risk management practices
of the business and functions engaged in or supporting revenue generating activities which constitute the first line of defence.
Independent assurance is provided by the Internal Audit Function as the third line of defence, on the effectiveness of controls that
support first line’s risk management of business activities and the processes maintained by the second line.
Strategic Risk Management
The Bank is also formalising the links between strategy, risk appetite and stress testing to facilitate more dynamic risk identification
and develop management processes which clearly integrate risk considerations into strategic decision making.
Risk Appetite and Profile
The Bank’s Risk Appetite Statement, which is underpinned by a set of financial and operational control parameters known as Risk
Appetite metrics. These directly constrain the aggregate risk exposures that can be taken across the Bank. A well-defined risk
appetite enables the Bank's business to grow in a strong and sustainable manner.
Risk Appetite is the maximum amount and type of risk the Bank is willing to assume in pursuit of its strategy. Risk Appetite cannot
exceed risk capacity. Risk capacity is the maximum level of risk the Bank can assume, given its current capabilities and resources,
before breaching constraints determined by capital and liquidity requirements and internal operational capability (including but not
limited to technical infrastructure, risk management capabilities and expertise), or otherwise failing to meet the expectations of
regulators and law enforcement agencies.
Stress Testing
Enterprise Stress Tests include Capital and Liquidity Adequacy Stress Tests and Stress Tests that assess scenarios where the
Bank's business model becomes unviable such as Reverse Stress Tests. Based on the Enterprise Stress Test results, the Country
Chief Risk Officer and Country Chief Financial Officer can recommend strategic actions to ensure that the Bank's Strategy remains
within the Board-approved Risk Appetite.

Page 13

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Risk Management (continued)
Principal Risk Types and Frameworks
The Enterprise Risk Management Framework is supported by Risk Type Frameworks, Policies and Standards. As part of these
changes the Bank has made a number of amendments to the Bank's Principal Risk Types. Specifically, the Bank has elevated
Compliance, Information and Cyber Security, Financial Crime, and Conduct Risk to Principal Risk Types. These were previously
incorporated within the risk sub-types under Operational risk. Principal Risk Types are risks that are inherent in the Bank's strategy
and business model and have been formally defined in the Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The 10 Principal Risk Types,
each with its own Risk Type Framework are Credit, Market, Capital and Liquidity, Operational (including Shariah Non-compliance),
Country, Reputational, Compliance, Conduct, Information and Cyber Security and Financial Crime. The Risk Type Framework
provides a structure for the monitoring and control of these risks through the Board-approved Risk Appetite. The Bank will not
compromise adherence to its Risk Appetite in order to pursue revenue growth or higher returns.
The revised Enterprise Risk Management Framework will provide a consolidated way of managing risk, and result in more proactive
conversations about strategic risk. The Bank's focus is on embedding a sustainable risk culture and an effective enterprise risk
management approach in helping to build a more resilient bank for the benefit of the Bank's colleagues, clients and investors.

Internal Audit
Group Internal Audit ("GIA") is an independent function whose primary role is to help the Board and Executive Management to
protect the assets, reputation and sustainability of Standard Chartered PLC ("the Group"). GIA does this by risk assessing the
organisation and its activities (including outsourced activities and all legal entities). This assessment, together with audits required
(or expected) by regulators, allows GIA to formulate and execute an annual plan of audit and review activity (the “Plan”) to form an
opinion on the control environment and management’s control approach. GIA does not have to cover all scope areas every year. The
Plan is reviewed on a periodic basis to assess the impact of changing risks, with any significant changes to the Plan discussed and
reviewed with senior management and approved by the Audit Committee.
The scope of GIA activities encompasses, but is not limited to, objective examinations of evidence for providing independent
assessments on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes for the Group. GIA also
performs reviews at the specific request of regulators, senior management or the Audit Committee. GIA assesses if key risks have
been identified, governed in line with the established risk management processes (including risk appetite) and reported by senior
management and/or the Risk function to Committees and Executive Management. GIA considers business strategy, policies and
procedures as well as the Group’s key priorities as part of this evaluation. It also considers whether the outcomes achieved and the
way business is conducted is in line with the objectives, risk appetite and valued behaviours of the organisation. In line with the
Group’s valued behaviours (“Do the right thing”, “Never settle” and “Better together”), GIA is beginning to include culture
considerations and indicators in its work, and specifically how the observed culture of an area impacts the risk and control
environment.
There is no aspect of the organisation which GIA is restricted from looking at as it delivers on its mandate. GIA’s scope includes
information presented to the Board for strategic decision making, including a review of significant business process changes, key
corporate events, new products and services, acquisitions and divestments.
Related Party Transactions
There were no other significant related party transactions other than as reported in Note 31.
Management Report
The Board, as a whole, receives and reviews regular reports from the management on the key operating statistics, legal and
regulatory matters and minutes of the Executive Committee Meetings. In addition, the CEO holds a monthly briefing to the
independent directors on the performance and operations of the Bank and any strategic, financial, operational, compliance or
governance issues.
From time to time between meetings, the management (ordinarily by way of the CEO), advises the Board of any significant
developments through a suitable method of communication.
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Ratings Statement
RAM Rating Services Berhad had re-affirmed the long and short-term general bank ratings of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad to
be AAA and P1, respectively, in November 2018.
Compliance with Bank Negara Malaysia's expectation on Financial Reporting
In the preparation of the financial statements, the Directors have taken reasonable steps to ensure that BNM's expectations on
financial reporting have been complied with, including those as set out in the Policy Document on Financial Reporting for Islamic
Banking Institutions issued on 2 February 2018.
Board of Directors and their interests in shares
According to the Register of Directors' Shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in the shares
of the Bank and its related corporations are as follows:-

In Standard Chartered PLC
Long Term Incentive Plan
Abrar Alam Anwar
Deferred Restricted Share Scheme
Abrar Alam Anwar

As at
1.1.2018

Number of options
Awarded/
Lapsed/
Granted
Exercised

51,263

827

8,825

6,978

As at
31.12.2018

-

52,090

4,043

11,760

The other Directors did not hold or deal in the shares and options over shares of the Bank and of its related corporations during the
financial year.
Issue of shares and debentures
There were no changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Bank during the financial year.
There were no debentures issued during the financial year.
Options granted over unissued shares
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Bank during the financial year.
Directors' benefits
Since the end of the previous financial period, no Director of the Bank has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit (other
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in Note 27 to
the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Bank or of related corporations) by reason of a contract
made by the Bank or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in
which the Director has a substantial financial interest.
Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during the year, did there subsist any arrangements to which the Bank is a
party whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any other
body corporate.
Directors' remuneration
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.
Indemnity and insurance costs
Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad, being the immediate holding company of the Bank, has granted indemnity to the
Directors and officers of Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad and its subsidiaries (“SCBMB Group”). As at 31 December 2018,
the total amount of indemnity given to the Directors and officers of the SCBMB Group is RM19,615,000.
Zakat Obligation
The Bank does not pay zakat on behalf of the shareholders or depositors.

Page 15

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Auditors
The auditors, Messrs KPMG PLT, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.
The auditors' remuneration is disclosed in Note 26 of the financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

..................................................................
Datuk Yvonne Chia
Director

..................................................................
Abrar Alam Anwar
Director
Kuala Lumpur
Date: 2 April 2019
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Statement by Directors pursuant to
Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016
In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 23 to 109 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

.................................................................
Datuk Yvonne Chia
Director

.................................................................
Abrar Alam Anwar
Director
Kuala Lumpur
Date: 2 April 2019
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Statutory Declaration pursuant to
Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016
I, Mabel Lau Kit Cheng, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad, do
solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 23 to 109 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the declaration to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory
Declarations Act, 1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named, Mabel Lau Kit Cheng, I/C No: 770411-10-5300, MIA No: CA38171 in Kuala
Lumpur on 2 April 2019.

.........................................
Mabel Lau Kit Cheng

Before me:
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Independent Auditors' Report to the members of
Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad
(Company No. 823437 K)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018 of the Bank, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 23 to 109.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31
December 2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in
Malaysia.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our auditors’ report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ByLaws and the IESBA Code.
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Directors’ Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Bank and our auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Bank does not cover the Directors’ Report and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Bank, our responsibility is to read the Directors’ Report and, in
doing so, consider whether the Directors’ Report is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Bank or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Directors’ Report, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Bank that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Bank that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements of the Bank, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Bank to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Bank as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards
on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
●

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Bank, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

●

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Bank.

●

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

●

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the ability of the Bank to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Bank or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

●

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Bank, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements of the Bank represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a
true and fair view.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Other Matter
This report is made solely to the members of the Bank, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act 2016
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

KPMG PLT
(LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758)
Chartered Accountants

Ow Peng Li
Approval Number: 02666/09/2019 J
Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya
Date: 2 April 2019
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“In the name of Allah, the Compassionate, the Merciful”
STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
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SHARIAH COMMITTEE'S REPORT
In compliance with the letter of appointment, we are required to submit the following report:
We have reviewed the principles and the contracts relating to the transactions and applications introduced by the
Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad during the year ended 31 December 2018. We have also conducted our review to
form an opinion as to whether the Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad has complied with the Shariah principles and with
the Shariah rulings issued by the Shariah Advisory Council of Bank Negara Malaysia, as well as Shariah decisions made
by us.
The management of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad is responsible for ensuring that the financial institution conducts
its business in accordance with Shariah principles. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
review of the operations of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad, and to report to the Board.
We have assessed the work carried out by Shariah review and Shariah audit which included examining, on a test basis,
each type of transaction, the relevant documentation and procedures adopted by Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad.
We have reviewed the policies and procedures adopted by Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad and we have obtained all
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad operations have not violated the Shariah principles.
In our opinion:
1. the contracts, transactions and dealings entered into by Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad during the year ended 31
December 2018 that we have reviewed are in compliance with the Shariah principles;
2. the allocation of profit and charging of losses relating to investment accounts conform to the basis that had been
approved by us in accordance with Shariah principles;
3. all earnings that have been realised from sources or by means prohibited by the Shariah principles have been
considered for disposal to charitable causes.
4. Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad during the year ended 31 December 2018 is not required to pay zakat because its
shareholder is non-Muslim.
We, the members of the Shariah Committee of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad, do hereby confirm that the operations
of Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been conducted in conformity with the
Shariah principles.
On behalf of the Shariah Committee

Chairman of the Shariah Committee
Dr. Hikmatullah Babu Sahib

Deputy Chairman of Shariah Committee
Dr. Wan Azhar Wan Ahmad

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 2 April 2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
Assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances funded by investment account placements
Financing and advances - others
Derivative financial assets
Other assets
Current tax assets
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Provision for credit commitments and contingencies
Subordinated sukuk
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Total equity attributable to owner of the Bank

4
5
6
6
36
8

2017
RM'000

1,852,990
100,375
2,431,916
2,876,828
184,650
351,621
7,337
47,980
108
6,050
7,859,855

1,612,916
100,524
752,076
4,786,713
207,304
187,727
3,143
139,012
152
3,121
7,792,688

11
12
13

2,603,930
3,642
726,594

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

14

428,586

1,772,932

3,004,937
189,413
129,828
5,059
100,000
7,191,989

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000
7,162,581

411,000
256,866
667,866

102,750
527,357
630,107

7,859,855

7,792,688

9,081,138

9,749,955

9
10
29

15
36
16
35(v)
17

18
19

Total liabilities and equity
Commitments and contingencies

2018
RM'000

33

The notes set out on pages 28 to 109 form an integral part of, and should be read in conjuction with, these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note
Income derived from investment of depositors' funds
Income derived from investment of investment
account funds
Income derived from investment of shareholder's funds
Release/(allowances) for expected credit losses/impairment provisions
Total distributable income
Profit/hibah distributed to depositors
Profit/hibah distributed to investment account holders
Total net income
Other operating expenses
Profit before taxation
Tax expense
Profit for the year

2017
RM'000

20

153,898

273,932

21
22
23

169,272
41,604
13,000
377,774
(86,124)
(137,710)
153,940
(97,871)
56,069
(13,093)
42,976

91,568
35,581
(15,970)
385,111
(174,883)
(75,972)
134,256
(102,428)
31,828
(8,350)
23,478

24
25
26
28

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Fair value reserve:
Net change in fair value
- investment securities measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income
- investment securities available-for-sale
Net changes in expected credit losses transferred to profit or loss

16
5

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Basic/diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)

2018
RM'000

32

845
-

21

845

42,997

24,323

41.8

22.8

The notes set out on pages 28 to 109 form an integral part of, and should be read in conjuction with, these financial statements.

Page 24

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Attributable to owner of the Bank
Distributable
Reserves
Retained
profits
RM'000

Non-Distributable Reserves
Share
capital
RM'000

Share
premium
RM'000

Regulatory
reserves
RM'000

Fair value
reserves
RM'000

At 31 December 2017

102,750

308,250

-

Impact of adopting MFRS 9 as at
1 January 2018
- Adjustment related to impairment,
net of income taxes
- Transfer between reserves
Restated balance as at 1 January 2018

102,750

308,250

13,622
13,622

Fair value reserve (investment securities
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income)
- Net changes in fair value
- Net changes in credit losses
Total other comprehensive expense
for the year
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Transition to no par value regime *
At 31 December 2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

308,250
411,000
Note 18

(308,250)
Note 19

13,622
Note 19

Total
RM'000

40

219,067

630,107

14

(5,252)
(13,622)
200,193

(5,238)
624,869

54

16
5

-

21

42,976

21
42,976

21

42,976
243,169
Note 19

42,997
667,866

-

75
Note 19

16
5

* The Companies Act 2016 ("the Act"), which came into operation on 31 January 2017, abolished the concept of authorised share capital and par value of share capital. Consequently, the amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account of RM308.25 million became part of the Bank's share capital persuant to the transitional provisions set out in Section 618(2) of the Act.
There was no impact on the number of ordinary shares in issue or the relative entitlement of any of the members as a result of this transition.

The notes set out on pages 28 to 109 form an integral part of, and should be read in conjuction with, these financial statements.

Page 25

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)
Attributable to owner of the Bank
Distributable
Reserves
Retained
profits
RM'000

Non-Distributable Reserves
Share
capital
RM'000
At 1 January 2017
Fair value reserve (investment
securities available-for-sale):Net changes in fair value
Total other comprehensive income
for the year
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Transfer between reserves
At 31 December 2017

Share
premium
RM'000

102,750

Statutory
reserves
RM'000

308,250

AFS
reserves
RM'000

102,750

(805)

Total
RM'000

92,839

-

-

-

845

-

-

-

845
-

23,478

845
23,478

845
40
Note 19

23,478
102,750
219,067
Note 19

24,323
630,107

102,750
Note 18

308,250
Note 19

(102,750)
Note 19

-

605,784

845

The notes set out on pages 28 to 109 form an integral part of, and should be read in conjuction with, these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
2018
RM'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:Depreciation
Allowances for expected credit losses/impairment provision
Amortisation of premium less accretion of discount
on investment securities
Operating profit before working capital changes
Changes in working capital:Financing and advances
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other financial
institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Other liabilities and provision
Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and short term funds (Note 4)

2017
RM'000

56,069

31,828

64
(13,000)

64
15,970

170
43,303

164
48,026

240,390
2,245
(163,894)
91,032
97,226
(21,848)
(3,887)

1,045,730
(10,915)
439,726
4,138
134,416
4,261
61,804

(1,344,346)

(813,442)

1,315,560
2,053
257,834
(17,740)
240,094

(247,821)
(440,921)
225,002
(4,371)
220,631

(20)
(20)

(65)
(65)

240,074
1,612,916
1,852,990

220,566
1,392,350
1,612,916

1,852,990

1,612,916

The notes set out on pages 28 to 109 form an integral part of, and should be read in conjuction with, these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
Corporate Information
Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The address of its registered
office and principal place of business is as follows:Level 16, Menara Standard Chartered
No. 30, Jalan Sultan Ismail
50250 Kuala Lumpur
The principal activities of the Bank are Islamic banking and related financial services.
The immediate and ultimate holding company of the Bank during the financial year were Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad
("SCBMB"), a company incorporated in Malaysia and Standard Chartered PLC, a company incorporated in Great Britain.
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 April 2019.

1.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
("MFRSs"), International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs"), the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in
Malaysia, and Shariah requirements.
The accounting policies adopted by the Bank are consistent with those adopted in the most recent annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, except for the adoption of the following MFRSs, Interpretation and
Amendments to MFRSs during the current financial year end:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

MFRS 9
MFRS 15
Clarifications to MFRS 15
IC Interpretation 22
Amendments to MFRS 1

vi)

Amendments to MFRS 2

Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
(Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle)
Share-based Payment – Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Except for MFRS 9, the adoption of the above MFRSs, Interpretation and Amendments to MFRSs do not have any
material impact on the financial statements of the Bank. The impact of MFRS 9 adoption is set out in Note 3. As
permitted by MFRS 9, the Bank did not restate comparative information. Accordingly, amounts prior to 1 January 2018
are prepared and disclosed in accordance with MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("MFRS
139").
Accounting standards not yet effective
The following MFRSs, Interpretations and Amendments to MFRSs have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting
Standards Board ("MASB") but are not yet effective:
MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
i)
ii)
iii)

MFRS 16
IC Interpretation 23
Amendments to MFRS 3

iv)
v)

Amendments to MFRS 9
Amendments to MFRS 11

vi)

Amendments to MFRS 112

Leases
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Business Combinations (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015-2017
Cycle)
Financial Instruments – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Joint Arrangements (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015-2017
Cycle)
Income Taxes (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle)
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1.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
(a) Statement of compliance (continued)
Accounting standards not yet effective
MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 (continued)
vii)
viii)
ix)

Amendments to MFRS 119
Amendments to MFRS 123
Amendments to MFRS 128

Employee Benefits - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Borrowing Costs (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle)
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
i)
ii)

Amendments to MFRS 3
Amendments to MFRS 101
and MFRS 108

Business Combinations - Definition of a Business
Presentation of Financial Statements and Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors - Definition of Material

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
i)

MFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for a date yet to be confirmed
i)

Amendments to MFRS 10
and MFRS 128

Consolidated Financial Statements and Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The Bank plans to apply the abovementioned accounting standards, amendments and interpretations:
•

from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019 for the accounting standard, amendments and interpretation
that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, except for Amendments to MFRS 3,
Amendments to MFRS 11 and Amendments to MFRS 128 which are not applicable to the Bank.

•

from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2020 for the amendments that are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, except for Amendments to MFRS 3 which is not applicable to the Bank.

The Bank does not plan to apply MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts that is effective for annual periods beginning on 1
January 2021, as it is not applicable to the Bank.
The initial application of the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments are not expected to have any
material impact to the financial statements of the Bank except for MFRS 16 Leases .
MFRS 16 replaces the guidance in MFRS 117 Leases , IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease , IC Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease .
The impact of adoption of the requirements of MFRS 16 is further disclosed in Note 40.
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1.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
(b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except as mentioned in the respective
accounting policy notes.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM"), which is the Bank’s functional currency. All
financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the MFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in
the process of applying the Bank's accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgements are based on the
Directors' best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.
In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities, the Bank makes assumptions of the effects of
uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the reporting date. The estimates and assumptions used are
based on historical experience and expectation of future events and are reviewed periodically. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are described in the following notes:i)

ii)
iii)
iv)

Estimation of expected credit losses ("ECL"). The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a
number of underlying assumptions. The significant judgements and estimates in determining ECL include:
The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk; and
Development of ECL models, including the choice of inputs relating to macroeconomic variables.
The calculation of credit-impairment provisions also involves expert credit judgement to be applied by the credit
risk management team based upon counterparty information they receive from various sources including
relationship managers and on external market information.
Estimation of expected life for recognition of financing income, financing expense and effective profit method (Note
2(h)(i) and Note 2(j) and Note 2(l))
Fair value estimation of financial assets and financial liabilities (Note 36)
Estimation of tax provisions and deferred tax assets (Note 2(i))

(e) BNM Policy Documents on Financial Reporting on Islamic Banking Institutions
Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM") had on 2 February 2018, issued Revised Policy Documents on Financial Reporting for
Islamic Banking Institutions ("Revised Policy Document") which is applicable to all licensed Islamic banks. The issuance
of this Revised Policy Document superseded previous guidelines issued by BNM previously, namely Financial Reporting
for Islamic Banking Institutions dated 5 February 2016 and Classification and Impairment Provisions for Loans/Financing
dated 6 April 2015.
The key changes in the Revised Policy Document are:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

Extend the applicability of the requirements in this policy document to a financial holding company under the
Islamic Financial Services Act 2013;
To maintain, in aggregate, loss allowance for non-credit-impaired exposures and regulatory reserves of no less
than 1% of total credit exposures, net of loss allowance for credit-impaired exposures;
Additional disclosure on intercompany charges and investment accounts; and
Clarification and classification of a credit facility as credit-impaired.
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2. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements,
unless otherwise stated.
Arising from the adoption of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("MFRS 9"), there are changes to the accounting policies of:i)
ii)

Financial instruments (Note 2(a)); and
Impairment of financial assets (Note 2(a)(viii))

The impacts arising from the changes are disclosed in Note 3. Details of the accounting policies applied under MFRS 139,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("MFRS 139") are disclosed in supplementary information section
appended to these financial statements, which are extracted from audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017.

(a) Financial instruments
i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities
Following the adoption of MFRS 9 effective 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies its financial assets into the
following measurement categories: amortised cost; fair value through other comprehensive income; and fair value
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as either amortised cost, or held at fair value through profit
or loss. Management determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition of the
instrument or, where applicable, at the time of reclassification.
A) Financial assets held at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income
Debt instruments held at amortised cost or held at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")
have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and profit income
("SPPP characteristics"). Principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition but this may
change over the life of the instrument as amounts are repaid. Profit income consists of consideration for the
time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular
period and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows have SPPP characteristics, the Bank considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
terms that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition.
Whether financial assets are held at amortised cost or at FVOCI depend on the objectives of the business
models under which the assets are held. A business model refers to how the Bank manages financial assets
to generate cash flows.
The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at the
individual product business line, and where applicable within business lines depending on the way the
business is managed and information is provided to management.
Financial assets which have SPPP characteristics and that are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to collect”) are recorded at amortised cost.
Conversely, financial assets which have SPPP characteristics but are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (“hold to collect and
sell”) are classified as held at FVOCI.

B) Equity instruments designated as held at FVOCI
Non-trading equity instruments acquired for strategic purposes rather than capital gain may be irrevocably
designated at initial recognition at FVOCI on an instrument by instrument basis. Gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of these instruments, including foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised
directly in equity and are never reclassified to profit or loss even on derecognition.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
C) Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets which are not held at amortised cost or that are not held at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value through profit or loss are either mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss or irrevocably
designated at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition.
Mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and liabilities which are mandatorily held at fair value through profit or loss include:
-

financial assets and liabilities held for trading, which are those acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term;
hybrid financial assets that contain one or more embedded derivatives;
financial assets that would otherwise be measured at amortised cost or FVOCI but which do not have
SPPP characteristics;
equity instruments that have not been designated as held at FVOCI; and
financial liabilities that constitute contingent consideration in a business combination.

Designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and liabilities may be designated at fair value through profit or loss when the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities on a different basis ("accounting mismatch").
Profit rate swaps have been acquired with the intention of significantly reducing profit rate risk on certain
financing and advances and debt securities with fixed profit rates. To significantly reduce the accounting
mismatch between assets and liabilities and measurement bases, these financing and advances and debt
securities have been designated at fair value through profit or loss. Similarly, to reduce accounting
mismatches, the Bank has designated certain financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities may also be designated at fair value through profit or loss where they are managed on a
fair value basis or have a bifurcately embedded derivative where the Bank is not able to separately value the
embedded derivative component.
D) Financial liabilities held at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not financial guarantees or financing commitments and that are not classified as
financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss are classified as financial liabilities held at amortised
cost.
Preference shares which carry a mandatory coupon that represents a market profit rate at the issue date, or
which are redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the shareholder are classified as financial liabilities
and are presented in other borrowed funds. The dividends on these preference shares are recognised in the
income statement as profit expense on an amortised cost basis using the effective profit method.

Debt securities issued by the Bank are subordinated sukuk, which are classified as financial liabilities held at
amortised cost. These debt securities are classified as liabilities in the statement of financial position as there
is a contractual obligation by the Bank to make cash payments of either principal or profit or both to holders of
the debt securities and that the Bank is contractually obliged to settle the financial instrument in cash or
another financial instrument. Any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption
value being recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the term fundings on an effective profit method.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
E) Financial guarantee contracts and financing commitments
The Bank issues financial guarantee contracts and financing commitments in return for fees. Under a financial
guarantee contract, the Bank undertakes to meet a customer’s obligations under the terms of a debt
instrument if the customer fails to do so. Financing commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under
prespecified terms and conditions. Financial guarantee contracts and financing commitments issued at below
market profit rates are initially recognised as liabilities at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the
expected credit loss provision, and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers .
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability includes the risk that the Bank will not be able to honour its obligations.
The fair value of financial instruments is generally measured on the basis of the individual financial instrument.
However, when a group of financial assets and financial liabilities is managed on the basis of its net exposure to
either market risk or credit risk, the fair value of the group of financial instruments is measured on a net basis.
The fair values of quoted financial assets and liabilities in active markets are based on current prices. A market is
regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. If the market for a financial instrument, and for unlisted securities,
is not active, the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
Initial recognition
Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, and debt securities
classified as financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised on the
trade-date (the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset). Financing and advances and other
financial assets held at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date (the date on which cash is advanced to
the borrowers).
All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally the transaction price, plus directly
attributable transaction costs for financial assets which are not subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss.
In certain circumstances, the initial fair value may be based on a valuation technique which may lead to the
recognition of profits or losses at the time of initial recognition. However, these profits or losses can only be
recognised when the valuation technique used is based solely on observable market data. In those cases where
the initially recognised fair value is based on a valuation model that uses unobservable inputs, the difference
between the transaction price and the valuation model is not recognised immediately in profit or loss but is
amortised or released to profit or loss as the inputs become observable, or the transaction matures or is
terminated.
Subsequent measurement
A) Financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost
Financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost are subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective profit rate method (see profit income and expense). Foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
Where a financial instrument carried at amortised cost is the hedged item in a qualifying fair value hedge
relationship, its carrying value is adjusted by the fair value gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
B) Financial assets held at FVOCI
Debt instruments held at FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value, with all unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value (including any related foreign exchange gains or losses) recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity. Foreign exchange gains and
losses on the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss. Changes in expected credit losses are
recognised in profit or loss and are accumulated in a separate component of equity. On derecognition, the
cumulative fair value gains or losses, net of the cumulative expected credit loss reserve, are transferred to
profit or loss.
Equity investments designated at FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value with all unrealised gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value (including any related foreign exchange gains or losses) recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity. On derecognition, the
cumulative reserve is transferred to retained earnings and is not recycled to profit or loss.
C) Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and liabilities mandatorily held at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value, with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recorded in the net trading income line in profit or loss unless the instrument
is part of a cash flow hedging relationship. Contractual profit income on financial assets held at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised as profit income in a separate line in profit or loss.
D) Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are held at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in the net trading income line in profit or loss, other than charges attributable to changes in
credit risk. Fair value changes attributable to credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income and
recorded in a separate category of reserves unless this is expected to create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch, in which case the entire change in fair value of the financial liability designated fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

ii)

Modified financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities whose original contractual terms have been modified, including those
financing and advances subject to forbearance strategies, are considered to be modified instruments.
Modifications may include changes to the tenor, cash flows and or profit rates amongst other factors.
Where derecognition of financial assets is appropriate (refer to Derecognition ), the newly recognised residual
financing and advances are assessed to determine whether the assets should be classified as purchased or
originated credit impaired assets ("POCI").
Where derecognition is not appropriate, the gross carrying amount of the applicable instruments are recalculated
as the present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows discounted at the original effective
profit rate (or credit adjusted effective profit rate for POCI financial assets). The difference between the
recalculated values and the pre-modified gross carrying values of the instruments are recorded as a modification
gain or loss in profit or loss.
Gains and losses arising from modifications for credit reasons are recorded as part of ‘Impairment’ (refer to Note 2
(a)(viii) Impairment of financial assets ). Modification gains and losses arising for non-credit reasons are
recognised either as part of “Impairment” or within income depending on whether there has been a change in the
credit risk on the financial asset subsequent to the modification. Modification gains and losses arising on financial
liabilities are recognised within income.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
iii)

Reclassification
Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition.
Reclassifications of financial assets are made when, and only when, the business model for those assets
changes. Such changes are expected to be infrequent and arise as a result of significant external or internal
changes such as the termination of a line of business or the purchase of a subsidiary whose business model is to
realise the value of pre-existing held for trading financial assets through a hold to collect model.
Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the date of reclassification and previously recognised gains
and losses are not restated. Moreover, reclassifications of financial assets between financial assets held at
amortised cost and financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income do not affect effective
profit rate or expected credit loss computations.
A) Reclassified from amortised cost
Where financial assets held at amortised cost are reclassified to financial assets held at fair value through
profit or loss, the difference between the fair value of the assets at the date of reclassification and the
previously recognised amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss.
For financial assets held at amortised cost that are reclassified to fair value through other comprehensive
income, the difference between the fair value of the assets at the date of reclassification and the previously
recognised gross carrying value is recognised in other comprehensive income. Additionally, the related
cumulative expected credit loss amounts relating to the reclassified financial assets are reclassified from
financing and advances loss provisions to a separate reserve in other comprehensive income at the date of
reclassification.
B) Reclassified from fair value through other comprehensive income
Where financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are reclassified to financial
assets held at fair value through profit or loss, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss.
For financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income that are reclassified to financial
assets held at amortised cost, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is adjusted against the fair value of the financial asset such that the financial asset is recorded at a
value as if it had always been held at amortised cost. In addition, the related cumulative expected credit losses
held within other comprehensive income are reversed against the gross carrying value of the reclassified
assets at the date of reclassification.
C) Reclassified from fair value through profit or loss
Where financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are reclassified to financial assets held at fair
value through other comprehensive income or financial assets held at amortised cost, the fair value at the date
of reclassification is used to determine the effective profit rate on the financial asset going forward. In addition,
the date of reclassification is used as the date of initial recognition for the calculation of expected credit
losses. Where financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are reclassified to financial assets held
at amortised cost, the fair value at the date of reclassification becomes the gross carrying value of the
financial asset.

iv)

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets
A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned.
A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date
accounting. Trade date accounting refers to:
▪ the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and
▪ derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a
receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.
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(a) Financial instruments (continued)
v)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Bank has elected to continue to apply MFRS 139 hedging requirements as permitted by MFRS 9.
Derivatives are categorised as trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments.
Derivative contracts are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at their fair values. Fair values may be obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets, recent market transactions, and valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models and
option pricing models, as appropriate. Further details of these techniques are set out in Note 36. Where the initially
recognised fair value of a derivative contract is based on a valuation model that uses inputs that are not
observable in the market, it follows the same initial recognition accounting policy as for other financial assets and
liabilities. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is
negative.
The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as
a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Bank designates certain derivatives as
either: (1) hedges of the value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedge); or (2)
hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction
(cash flow hedge). Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are
met.
The Bank enters into derivative transactions for hedging purposes, largely to manage exposures to profit rate and
foreign currency, arising from its core banking activities of lending and accepting deposits.
Fair value hedge
A fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that is
attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.
In a fair value hedge, the gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value or the foreign currency
component of its carrying amount translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period is
recognised in profit or loss. The gain or loss on the hedged item, except for hedged items categorised as FVOCI,
attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted to the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised in profit or
loss. For a hedged item categorised as FVOCI, the fair value gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk is
recognised in profit or loss.
Fair value hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, the hedge is no longer highly effective or the hedge designation is revoked.
Cash flow hedge
A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect profit or
loss. In a cash flow hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or
loss.
Subsequently, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity
into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss. If
the hedged item is a non-financial asset or liability, the associated gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income is removed from other comprehensive income and included in the initial amount of the asset or liability.
However, loss recognised in other comprehensive income that will not be recovered in one or more future periods
is reclassified from equity into profit or loss.
Cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, the hedge is no longer highly effective, the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur or the hedge designation is revoked. If the hedge is for a forecast transaction, the cumulative gain or loss
on the hedging instrument remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. When the forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, any related cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income on the
hedging instrument is reclassified from equity into profit or loss.
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(a) Financial instruments (continued)
vi)

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. If substantially all the risks and
rewards have been neither retained nor transferred and the Bank has retained control, the assets continue to be
recognised to the extent of the Bank's continuing involvement.
Where financial assets have been modified, the modified terms are assessed on a qualitative and quantitative
basis to determine whether a fundamental change in the nature of the instrument has occurred, such as whether
the derecognition of the pre-existing instrument and the recognition of a new instrument is appropriate.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying
amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of the consideration received (including
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss except for equity instruments designated at FVOCI
and cumulative fair value adjustments attributable to the credit risk of a liability that are held in other
comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. A financial liability is extinguished when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires and this is evaluated both qualitatively and quantitatively. However,
where a financial liability has been modified, it is derecognised if the difference between the modified cash flows
and the original cash flows is more than 10 per cent.
If the Bank purchases its own debt, it is derecognised and the difference between the carrying amount of the
liability and the consideration paid is included in 'Other income' except for the cumulative fair value adjustments
attributable to the credit risk of a liability that are held in other comprehensive income which are never recycled to
profit or loss.

vii)

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and the intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expense are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards.

viii)

Impairment of financial assets
Following the adoption of MFRS 9 effective on 1 January 2018, the Bank adopted the following accounting policy
in relation to the impairment of financial assets.
ECL are determined for all financial debt instruments that are classified at amortised cost or FVOCI, undrawn
commitments and financial guarantees.
An ECL represents the present value of expected cash shortfalls over the residual term of a financial asset,
undrawn commitment or financial guarantee.
A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contractual terms of
the instrument and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive over the contractual life of the instrument.
Measurement
ECL are computed as unbiased, probability weighted amounts which are determined by evaluating a range of
reasonably possible outcomes, the time value of money, and considering all reasonable and supportable
information including that which is forward-looking.
For material portfolios, the estimate of expected cash shortfalls is determined by multiplying the probability of
default ("PD") with the loss given default ("LGD") with the expected exposure at the time of default ("EAD"). There
may be multiple default events over the lifetime of an instrument. For less material retail financing portfolios, the
Bank has adopted simplified approaches based on historical roll rates or loss rates.
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(a) Financial instruments (continued)
viii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement (continued)
Forward looking economic assumptions are incorporated into the PD, LGD and EAD where relevant and where
they influence credit risk, such as GDP growth rates, profit rates, house price indices and commodity prices
amongst others. These assumptions are incorporated using the Bank’s most likely forecast for a range of
macroeconomic assumptions. These forecasts are determined using all reasonable and supportable information,
which includes both internally developed forecasts and those available externally, and are consistent with those
used for budgeting, forecasting and capital planning.
To account for the potential non-linearity in credit losses, multiple forward-looking scenarios are incorporated into
the range of reasonably possible outcomes for all material portfolios. For example, where there is a greater risk of
downside credit losses than upside gains, multiple forward-looking economic scenarios are incorporated into the
range of reasonably possible outcomes, both in respect of determining the PD (and where relevant, the LGD and
EAD) and in determining the overall ECL amounts. These scenarios are determined using a Monte Carlo approach
centered around the Bank’s most likely forecast of macroeconomic assumptions.
The period over which cash shortfalls are determined is generally limited to the maximum contractual period for
which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. However, for certain revolving credit facilities, which include credit cards
or overdrafts, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk is not limited to the contractual period. For these instruments, the
Bank estimates an appropriate life based on the period that the Bank is exposed to credit risk, which includes the
effect of credit risk management actions such as the withdrawal of undrawn facilities.
For credit-impaired financial instruments, the estimate of cash shortfalls may require the use of expert credit
judgement. As a practical expedient, the Bank may also measure credit impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.
The estimate of expected cash shortfalls on a collateralised financial instrument reflects the amount and timing of
cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral,
regardless of whether foreclosure is deemed probable.
Cash flows from unfunded credit enhancements held are included within the measurement of ECL if they are part
of, or integral to, the contractual terms of the instrument (this includes financial guarantees, unfunded risk
participations and other non-derivative credit insurance). Although non-integral credit enhancements do not impact
the measurement of ECL, a reimbursement asset is recognised to the extent of the ECL recorded.
Cash shortfalls are discounted using the effective profit rate on the financial instrument as calculated at initial
recognition or if the instrument has a variable profit rate, the current effective profit rate determined under the
contract.
Recognition
A) 12 months ECL (Stage 1)
ECL are recognised at the time of initial recognition of a financial instrument and represent the lifetime cash
shortfalls arising from possible default events up to 12 months into the future from the reporting date. ECL
continue to be determined on this basis until there is either a significant increase in the credit risk of an
instrument or the instrument becomes credit-impaired. If an instrument is no longer considered to exhibit a
significant increase in credit risk, ECL will revert to being determined on a 12-month basis.
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(a) Financial instruments (continued)
viii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Recognition (continued)
B) Significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2)
If a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk ("SICR") since initial recognition, an ECL
provision is recognised for default events that may occur over the lifetime of the asset.
Significant increase in credit risk is assessed by comparing the risk of default of an exposure at the reporting
date to the risk of default at origination (after taking into account the passage of time). Significant does not
mean statistically significant nor is it assessed in the context of changes in ECL. Whether a change in the risk
of default is significant or not is assessed using a number of quantitative and qualitative factors, the weight of
which depends on the type of product and counterparty. Financial assets that are 30 or more days past due
and not credit-impaired will always be considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. For
less material portfolios where a loss rate or roll rate approach is applied to compute ECL, a significant
increase in credit risk is primarily based on 30 days past due.
Quantitative factors include an assessment of whether there has been significant increase in the forwardlooking PD since origination. A forward-looking PD is one that is adjusted for future economic conditions to the
extent these are correlated to changes in credit risk. We compare the residual lifetime PD at the balance
sheet date to the residual lifetime PD that was expected at the time of origination for the same point in the
term structure and determine whether both the absolute and relative change between the two exceeds
predetermined thresholds. To the extent that the differences between the measures of default outlined exceed
the defined thresholds, the instrument is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

Qualitative factors assessed include those linked to current credit risk management processes, such as
lending placed on non-purely precautionary early alert (and subject to closer monitoring).
A non-purely precautionary early alert account is one which exhibits risk or potential weaknesses of a material
nature requiring closer monitoring, supervision, or attention by management. Weaknesses in such a
borrower’s account, if left uncorrected, could result in deterioration of repayment prospects and the likelihood
of being downgraded. Indicators could include a rapid erosion of position within the industry, concerns over
management’s ability to manage operations, weak/deteriorating operating results, liquidity strain and overdue
balances amongst other factors.
C) Credit impaired exposures (Stage 3)
Financial assets that are credit impaired (or in default) represent those that are at least 90 days past due in
respect of principal and/or profit. Financial assets are also considered to be credit impaired where the obligors
are unlikely to pay on the occurrence of one or more observable events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event but
instead the combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about the following events:
-

-

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;
Breach of contract such as default or a past due event;
For economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, the lenders of the
borrower have granted the borrower concession/s that lenders would not otherwise consider. This would
include forbearance actions;
Pending or actual bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation to avoid or delay discharge of the
borrower’s obligations;
The disappearance of an active market for the applicable financial asset due to financial difficulties of the
borrower; or
Purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects incurred credit losses.

Irrevocable lending commitments to a credit impaired obligor that have not yet been drawn down are also
included within the Stage 3 credit impairment provision to the extent that the commitment cannot be
withdrawn.
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(a) Financial instruments (continued)
viii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Recognition (continued)
C) Credit impaired exposures (Stage 3) (continued)
Loss provisions against credit impaired financial assets are determined based on an assessment of the
recoverable cash flows under a range of scenarios, including the realisation of any collateral held where
appropriate. The loss provisions held represent the difference between the present value of the cash flows
expected to be recovered, discounted at the instrument’s original effective profit rate, and the gross carrying
value of the instrument prior to any credit impairment.
Modified financial instruments
Where the original contractual terms of a financial asset have been modified for credit reasons and the instrument
has not been derecognised, the resulting modification loss is recognised within ‘Impairment’ in the income
statement with a corresponding decrease in the gross carrying value of the asset. If the modification involved a
concession that the Bank would not otherwise consider, the instrument is considered to be credit impaired.
ECL for modified financial assets that have not been derecognised and are not considered to be credit-impaired
will be recognised on a 12-month basis, or a lifetime basis, if there is a significant increase in credit risk. These
assets are assessed to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the
modification. Although financing and advances may be modified for non-credit reasons, a significant increase in
credit risk may occur.
In addition to the recognition of modification gains and losses, the revised carrying value of modified financial
assets will impact the calculation of ECL, with any increase or decrease in ECL recognised within impairment.
Write-offs of credit impaired instruments & reversal of impairment
To the extent a financial debt instrument is considered irrecoverable, the applicable portion of the gross carrying
value is written off against the related financing and advances provision. Such financing and advances are written
off after all the necessary procedures have been completed, it is decided that there is no realistic probability of
recovery and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off decrease the amount of the impairment provision for financing and advances in profit or loss. If, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the credit impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the credit impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised credit impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the provision
account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
Improvement in credit risk / Curing
A period may elapse from the point at which instruments enter lifetime ECL (Stage 2 or Stage 3) and are
reclassified back to 12 month ECL (Stage 1).
For financial assets that are credit-impaired (Stage 3), a transfer to Stage 2 or Stage 1 is only permitted where the
instrument is no longer considered to be credit-impaired. An instrument will no longer be considered creditimpaired when there is no shortfall of cash flows compared to the original contractual terms.
For financial assets within Stage 2, these can only be transferred to Stage 1 when they are no longer considered
to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.
Where significant increase in credit risk was determined using quantitative measures, the instruments will
automatically transfer back to Stage 1 when the original PD based transfer criteria are no longer met. Where
instruments were transferred to Stage 2 due to an assessment of qualitative factors, the issues that led to the
reclassification must be cured before the instruments can be reclassified to Stage 1. This includes instances
where management actions led to instruments being classified as Stage 2, requiring that action to be resolved
before financing and advances are reclassified to Stage 1.
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(b) Property, plant and equipment
i)

Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to its location and working condition for its intended use, and the costs of
dismantling and removing the assets and restoring the site on which the assets are located. Purchased software
that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

ii)

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs incurred in replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment are included in the asset's
carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated to write off the cost of the property, plant and
equipment on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets concerned from the date that they
are available for use.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:Premises, plant and equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings

3 to 10 years
3 to 8 years
3 to 8 years

Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

(c) Provisions
A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding
of discount is recognised as finance cost.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and short-term funds and
deposits and placements with financial institutions, with remaining maturity of less than one month and subject to
insignificant risk of change in value.

(e) Impairment of other assets
The carrying amount of the Bank's assets, other than deferred tax assets and financial assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of the
asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is recognised directly against any
revaluation surplus of the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation
surplus of the same asset.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Impairment of other assets (continued)
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (groups of units) on
a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised. The reversal is credited to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in
which the reversals are recognised, unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset, in which case it is
credited directly to revaluation surplus.

(f)

Staff retirement and service benefits
i)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick leave
are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
The Bank contributes to the Employees Provident Fund ("EPF") for eligible employees on a monthly basis.
Obligations for contributions to EPF are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in
the year to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Bank has no further payment obligations.

ii)

Share-based compensation
The Bank participates in equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation plan for its employees that is
offered by its ultimate holding company, Standard Chartered PLC. The fair value of the services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income over
the vesting periods of the grant.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. At each statement of financial position date,
the Bank revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income.

iii)

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Bank is demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to
provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits
for voluntary redundancies are recognised as expenses if the Bank has made an offer encouraging voluntary
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated
reliably.

(g) Operating leases
Leases where the Bank does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
lease and the leased assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position.
Rentals payable under operating leases are accounted for on the straight line basis over the period of the lease and are
included in the statement of comprehensive income as establishment costs within "other opearting expenses".
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Income recognition
i)

Financing income
Financing income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective profit method for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future receipts through the
expected life of the financial assets. The calculation of the effective profit rate includes all contractual terms of the
financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and
are an integral part of the effective profit rate.
Financing under Murabahah concept
Murabahah is a contract of sale of assets at a mark-up price, which includes a profit margin as agreed by the
contracting parties. The price, costs and profit margin in Murabahah shall be made transparent and agreed upon
between buyer and seller. Income is recognised on effective profit rate basis over the expected life of the contract
based on the principal amounts outstanding.
Financing under Bai concept
Bai’ is a contract of sale and purchase of an asset. Types of Bai’ offered to customers are as follows:
a)

Bai Al-Inah or Bai-Bithaman Ajil refers to an arrangement that involves sale of an asset to the purchaser on a
deferred basis and subsequent purchase of the asset at a cash price lower than the deferred sale price or viceversa, and which complies with the specific requirements of Bai Al-Inah.

b)

Bai-Al-Dayn refers to a contract of debt trading created from Shariah compliant business activities. In the
context of Islamic finance, Bai-Al-Dayn is a method of sale of debt created under exchange contracts such as
murabahah, Bai-Bithaman Ajil, Ijarah, Istisna` and others.

Financing under Commodity Murabahah concept
Commodity Murabahah consists of two sale and purchase contracts. The first involves the sale of an asset by a
seller to a purchaser on a deferred basis. Subsequently, the purchaser of the first sale will sell the same asset to a
third party on a cash and spot basis.
Financing under Ijarah concept
Ijarah refers to a lease contract that transfer the ownership of a usufruct of an asset to another person for a
specified period in exchange for a specified consideration. Al-Ijarah Thumma al-Bai (“AITAB”) is a form of Ijarah
contract where the sale of asset to the lessee is executed at the completion of the lease period. Income is
recognised on rental rate basis over the lease term.
Financing under Musharakah Mutanaqisah concept
Musharakah Mutanaqisah is a contract of two or more parties on a particular asset or venture which allows one of
the partners to gradually acquire the shareholding of the other partner through an agreed redemption method
during the tenure of the musharakah contract. Income is accounted for on the basis of the reducing balance on a
time-apportioned basis that reflects the effective yield on the asset.
Where an account is classified as impaired, impairment provision is made on principal outstanding and profit/rental
accrued prior to an account being impaired. Upon impairment, subsequent contractual profit/rental due will not be
recognised as income.
ii)

Other income
Income from securities portfolio and placements which includes coupons earned, accrued discount and
amortisation of premium of these securities is recognised on an accrual basis applying the effective profit method
in accordance to the principles of Shariah and the Revised Policy Document.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Income recognition (continued)
iii)

Other operating income
Commitment fees and guarantee fees are recognised as income based on time apportionment. Service charges
and processing fees are recognised when earned.
Financing commitments and contingencies under Kafalah concept
Kafalah refers to a contract where the guarantor conjoins the guaranteed party in assuming the latter’s specified
liability. The guarantor may impose a fee for providing the Kafalah service.
Financing commitments and contingencies under Wakalah concept
Wakalah refers to a contract where a party, as principal (muwakkil) authorizes another party as his agent (wakil) to
perform a particular task on matters that may be delegated. The agent is entitled to receive the Wakalah fee for
carrying out the authorized task or matters that have been delegated to him based on contract entered.

iv)

Income derived from Shariah non-compliant activities
The Bank is required to identify any income derived from Shariah non-compliant transaction or events that is not in
compliance to Shariah principles and to set aside such amounts in a separate account for channeling to approved
charitable bodies.

(i)

Tax expense
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in other
comprehensive income.
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to
the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.
Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Additional taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the
related dividend is recognised.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Recognition of deposit expense
Attributable profits/hibah on deposits of the Bank are recognised on an effective profit method as described in Note 2(l).
The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future payments through the expected life of the
financial liabilities.
Deposits under Commodity Murabahah concept
Commodity Murabahah consists of two sale and purchase contracts. The first involves the sale of an asset by a seller to
a purchaser on a deferred basis at cost plus profit. Subsequently, the purchaser of the first sale will sell the same asset
to a third party on at cost and spot basis. Profit expense shall be recognised on accrual basis by maturity date.
Deposit under Qard concept
Qard is a contract of lending money by a lender (customers) to a borrower (the Bank) where the latter is bound to repay
an equivalent replacement amount to the lender. There is no profit or mark-up element in Qard. Hibah may be paid at the
discretion of the borrower. Hibah under Qard shall be recognised on accrual basis.
Deposit under Mudharabah concept
Mudharabah is a contract based on a fiduciary relationship between a capital provider (customer) and an entrepreneur
(the Bank). Under a Mudharabah, any profit generated from the capital is shared while financial losses are borne by the
capital provider.

(k) Foreign currency transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Bank at the exchange rate at the dates
of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot rate of exchange ruling at
the reporting date.
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical costs are translated using the spot
exchange rates as at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the reporting date
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(l)

Effective profit rate
The effective profit rate method ("EPRM") is the method used to recognise profit income or profit expense of an asset or
a liability carried at amortised cost over the relevant time period. It is same as ‘constant effective yield’ or ‘yield to
maturity’ and produces a constant periodic rate of return on an asset or liability.
EPRM requires the computation of an ‘Effective Profit Rate ("EPR")’, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument. EPR has to be computed taking
into account the following:•
•
•
•
•

Contractual rate of profit including stepped profit rate;
Premium or discount;
Transaction costs incurred for the creation of an asset or liability;
Fees received that are either an integral part of the effective interest rate or received on origination; and
Expected life or actuarial life of the asset or liability. This will be arrived at after considering various contractual
terms such as call/ prepayment options as well as historical of behaviour market.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(l)

Effective profit rate (continued)
Effectively, EPR considers all the components that affect the return on an asset or a liability and generates income or
expense in each period at a uniform rate directly linked to the carrying balance of the asset or liability.
For non-credit impaired financial assets (Stage 1 or Stage 2), EPR does not reflect expected credit losses and is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. Where financial assets are credit-impaired (Stage
3), the EPR is recognised on a net basis (gross outstanding less Stage 3 loss allowances).
The application of EPRM requires estimation of the cash flows and their timing on a fairly reliable basis. Adjustments to
the assumptions regarding the timing of cash flows (as a result of a re-estimation of actuarial life) may result in a
cumulative catch-up adjustment being made to net profit income in profit or loss.
EPRM is an important concept in respect of items other than those restated or re-measured at FVTPL. Assets classified
as FVOCI or amortised cost and liabilities carried at amortised cost require application of EPRM.

(m) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares,
which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees.

(n) Fair value measurements
The fair value of an asset or liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:Level 1:
Level 2:
Level 3:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identifical assets or liabilities that the Bank can access at the
measurement date.
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.
unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfers.
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3. Impacts on MFRS 9 adoption
The MFRS 9 classification and measurement requirements as well as the impairment requirements have been applied
retrospectively through adjustments to the statements of financial position on the date of initial application, i.e. 1 January 2018,
with no restatement of comparative periods. The impacts of MFRS 9 adoption were recognised through adjustments to
reserves and retained earnings on 1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial instruments at the date of initial application of MFRS 9
The following table presents the classification and carrying amounts of the Bank's financial assets and financial liabilities, as
previously established in accordance with MFRS 139 as at 31 December 2017, as well as the new classification and new
carrying amounts established in accordance with MFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018, where applicable.

Financial assets/
liabilities

Classification under
MFRS 139

Classification under
MFRS 9

Financial assets
Cash and short term
funds

Financing and receivables

At amortised cost

Investment securities
- Debt securities

Available-for-sale

Financing and advances
funded by investment
account placements

As at
31 December
2017
RM'000

As at
1 January
2018
RM'000

1,612,916

1,612,916

At fair value through
other comprehensive
income

100,524

100,524

Financing and receivables

At amortised cost

752,076

752,076

Financing and advances
- others

Financing and receivables

At amortised cost

4,786,713

4,780,004

Derivative financial
assets

At fair value through profit
or loss

At fair value through
profit or loss

207,304

207,304

Other assets

Financing and receivables

At amortised cost

187,727

187,727

Statutory deposits
with Bank Negara
Malaysia

Financing and receivables

At amortised cost

139,012

139,012
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3. Impacts on MFRS 9 adoption (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial instruments at the date of initial application of MFRS 9 (continued)

Financial assets/
liabilities

Classification under
MFRS 139

Classification under
MFRS 9

Financial liabilities
Deposits from
customers

At amortised cost

At amortised cost

Designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Investment accounts
of customers

At amortised cost

Deposits and
placements of
banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment
accounts due
to designated
financial institutions

As at
31 December
2017
RM'000

As at
1 January
2018
RM'000

2,506,704

2,506,704

25,490

25,490

At amortised cost

730,481

730,481

At amortised cost

At amortised cost

1,772,932

1,772,932

At amortised cost

At amortised cost

1,689,377

1,689,377

At fair value through profit
or loss

At fair value through
profit or loss

209,822

209,822

Other liabilities

At amortised cost

At amortised cost

127,775

127,775

Subordinated sukuk

At amortised cost

At amortised cost

100,000

100,000

Structured deposits

Derivative financial
liabilities
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3. Impacts on MFRS 9 adoption (continued)
Reconciliation of new carrying values under MFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018
The following table reconciles the financial assets and liability carrying values established in accordance with MFRS 139 as at
31 December 2017 with the carrying values established in accordance with MFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 as well as the
impact of MFRS 9 adoption on income tax assets and liabilities.

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances funded by
account placements
Financing and advances - others
Derivative financial assets
Other assets
Current tax assets
Statutory deposits with Bank
Negara Malaysia
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and
other financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due
to designated financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Provision for credit commitments and
contingencies
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Total equity attributable to
owner of the Bank
Total liabilities and equity

MFRS 139
carrying
values
31 December
2017
RM'000

1,612,916
100,524

MFRS 9
adjustment
Impairment
RM'000

-

Tax
impacts
RM'000

-

Reconciliation
of new
carrying
values
1 January
2018
under MFRS 9
RM'000

1,612,916
100,524

752,076
4,786,713
207,304
187,727
3,143

(6,709)
-

2,484

752,076
4,780,004
207,304
187,727
5,627

139,012
152
3,121
7,792,688

(6,709)

(4)
2,480

139,012
152
3,117
7,788,459

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

-

-

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

1,772,932

-

-

1,772,932

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000

-

-

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000

-

1,009
7,163,590

7,162,581

1,009
1,009

102,750
527,357

(7,718)

2,480

102,750
522,119

630,107

(7,718)

2,480

624,869

7,792,688

(6,709)

2,480

7,788,459
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4. Cash and short term funds
2018
RM'000
Cash and balances with banks and other financial institutions
Money at call and deposit placements maturing
within one month

2017
RM'000

4,990

5,359

1,848,000
1,852,990

1,607,557
1,612,916

5. Investment securities
2018
RM'000
Investment securities measured at FVOCI - debt instruments
Investment securities available-for-sale

100,375
100,375

2017
RM'000
100,524
100,524

By type
2018
RM'000
Investment securities measured at FVOCI - debt instruments
Government Islamic bonds

100,375

2017
RM'000
Investment securities available-for-sale
Government Islamic bonds

100,524

The carrying amount of a debt security measured at FVOCI is its fair value. Accordingly, the recognition of an impairment loss
does not affect the carrying amount of those assets, but is reflected as a debit to profit or loss or retained profits and credit to
other comprehensive income.
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6. Financing and advances
(i) By type and by contract
Bai'^

Ijarah

#

Ijarah
Thumma AlBai #

Murabahah

Commodity
Murabahah

Musyarakah
Mutanaqisah

Others

Total
financing and
advances

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

1,324,065
244,413
10,608
342,900
1,921,986

2,260,117
712,516
2,972,633

As at 31 December 2018
RM'000

RM'000

At amortised cost
Term financing
- House financing
- Hire purchase receivables
- Lease receivables
- Other term financing
Bills receivable
Trust receipts
Staff financing
Revolving credit

363,101
23,627
202,015
344
589,087

Less: Unearned income
Gross financing and advances
Less: Allowances for credit losses on
financing and advances:- 12-month ECL (Stage 1)
- Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (Stage 2)
- Lifetime ECL credit-impaired (Stage 3)
Total net financing and advances
Less: Financing and advances funded by
investment account placements *
Total net financing and advances - others

28,983
28,983

20,204
20,204

16,528
197,962
214,490

80,300
191
80,491

2,623,218
20,204
28,983
2,140,508
462,956
197,962
11,143
342,900
5,827,874
(449,179)
5,378,695

(3,364)
(12,375)
(54,212)
5,308,744
(2,431,916)
2,876,828

^ Bai' comprises of Bai-Bithaman Ajil, Bai Al-Inah and Bai-Al-Dayn.
# Under this mode of financing, the Bank acquires the assets against customers’ purchase undertaking to purchase the assets on maturity of the financing. The assets will be leased to
the customer during financing tenure prior to the acquisition of asset by the customer.
*

Financing and advances funded by investment account placements are exposures to Restricted Profit Sharing Investment Accounts ("RPSIA"), as part of an arrangement between the
Bank and Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad. Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad is exposed to risks and rewards on RPSIA financing and will account for all the
expected credit losses for financing arising thereon.
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6. Financing and advances (continued)
(i) By type and by contract (continued)
Bai'^

Ijarah

#

Ijarah
Thumma AlBai #

Murabahah

Commodity
Murabahah

Musyarakah
Mutanaqisah

Others

Total
financing and
advances

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

RM'000

1,373,589
64,465
12,718
246,197
1,696,969

2,421,796
783,857
3,205,653

As at 31 December 2017
RM'000

RM'000

At amortised cost
Term financing
- House financing
- Hire purchase receivables
- Lease receivables
- Other term financing
Bills receivable
Trust receipts
Staff financing
Revolving credit

430,318
29,075
199,004
374
658,771

Less: Unearned income
Gross financing and advances
Less: Impairment provisions on
financing and advances:- Individual impairment provisions
- Collective impairment provisions
Total net financing and advances
Less: Financing and advances funded by
investment account placements *
Total net financing and advances - others

93,696
93,696

59,027
59,027

108,240
166,455
274,695

6
141,194
255
141,455

2,852,120
59,027
93,696
2,327,715
371,709
166,455
13,347
246,197
6,130,266
(495,225)
5,635,041

(31,799)
(64,453)
5,538,789
(752,076)
4,786,713

^ Bai' comprises of Bai-Bithaman Ajil, Bai Al-Inah and Bai-Al-Dayn.
# Under this mode of financing, the Bank acquires the assets against customers’ purchase undertaking to purchase the assets on maturity of the financing. The assets will be leased to
the customer during financing tenure prior to the acquisition of asset by the customer.
*

Financing and advances funded by investment account placements are exposures to Restricted Profit Sharing Investment Accounts ("RPSIA"), as part of an arrangement between the
Bank and Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad. Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad is exposed to risks and rewards on RPSIA financing and will account for all the
expected credit losses for financing arising thereon.
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6. Financing and advances (continued)
(ii)

By type of customer
2018
RM'000
Domestic non-bank financial institutions
Domestic business enterprises
Small medium enterprises
Others
Individuals
Foreign entities

(iii)

80,304
2,023,623
795,122
1,228,501
2,330,546
944,222
5,378,695

361
2,029,715
814,769
1,214,946
2,591,355
1,013,610
5,635,041

By profit rate sensitivity
2018
RM'000
Fixed rate
- House financing
- Hire purchase receivables
- Other financing
Variable rate
- House financing
- Revolving credit
- Other financing

(iv)

2017
RM'000

2017
RM'000

956
20,204
534,647

1,130
59,027
611,741

2,755,164
342,900
1,724,824
5,378,695

2,850,990
246,197
1,865,956
5,635,041

By sector
2018
RM'000
Agriculture
Mining and quarrying
Manufacturing
Electricity, gas and water
Construction
Real estate
Wholesale & retail trade and restaurants
& hotels
Transport, storage and communication
Finance, takaful and business services
Household
Others

2017
RM'000

193,365
8,681
565,140
838
125,051
263,674

92,152
230,506
292,406
944
199,061
340,522

503,447
39,244
304,029
2,746,340
628,886
5,378,695

388,017
50,754
329,212
3,045,597
665,870
5,635,041
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6. Financing and advances (continued)
(v)

By purpose
2018
RM'000
Purchase of landed property
- Residential
- Non-residential
Fixed assets excluding land and building
Personal use
Working capital

(vi)

2,431,467
734,867
16,980
125,277
2,070,104
5,378,695

2017
RM'000

2,631,328
809,190
54,784
201,362
1,938,377
5,635,041

By maturity structure
2018
RM'000
Maturing within one year
One year to three years
Three years to five years
Over five years

1,092,971
319,932
693,947
3,271,845
5,378,695

2017
RM'000
868,224
443,301
846,774
3,476,742
5,635,041

(vii) By geographical distribution
2018
RM'000
Within Malaysia
Outside Malaysia

4,871,815
506,880
5,378,695

2017
RM'000
5,130,557
504,484
5,635,041

(viii) Analysis of foreign currency exposure
2018
RM'000
USD

577,595

2017
RM'000
640,391

7. Impaired financing and advances
(i)

Movements in impaired financing and advances
2018
RM'000
At 1 January
Classified as impaired during the financial year
Reclassified as performing during the financial year
Amount recovered during the financial year
Amount written off during the financial year
At 31 December
Impairment provisions
Net impaired financing and advances

43,181
101,974
(63,041)
(2,380)
(16,724)
63,010
(37,666)
25,344

2017
RM'000
56,883
91,174
(71,322)
(3,949)
(29,605)
43,181
(31,799)
11,382
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7. Impaired financing and advances (continued)
(ii) Impaired financing and advances by sector
2018
RM'000
Agriculture
Mining and quarrying
Manufacturing
Wholesale & retail trade and restaurants & hotels
Construction
Transport, storage and communication
Finance, takaful and business services
Real estate
Household
Others

664
45
1,497
6,207
1,643
2,176
3,781
4,731
42,019
247
63,010

2017
RM'000
1,202
9,457
1,587
2,072
834
389
27,339
301
43,181

(iii) Impaired financing and advances by purpose
2018
RM'000
Purchase of landed property
- Residential
- Non-residential
Fixed assets excluding land and building
Personal use
Working capital

42,471
29,263
13,208
2,541
6,916
11,082
63,010

2017
RM'000
18,859
12,222
6,637
2,443
12,635
9,244
43,181

(iv) Impaired financing and advances by geographical distribution
2018
RM'000
Within Malaysia

63,010

2017
RM'000
43,181

8. Other assets
2018
RM'000
Income receivable
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

1,472
350,149
351,621

2017
RM'000
2,206
185,521
187,727

9. Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
The non-profit bearing statutory deposits maintained with Bank Negara Malaysia are in compliance with Section 26(2)(c) of the
Central Bank of Malaysia Act, 2009 to satisfy the Statutory Reserve Requirement (“SRR”); the amounts of which are
determined at set percentages of total eligible liabilities.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Cost
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Fully depreciated assets written off
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Fully depreciated assets written off
At 31 December 2018

Premises, plant
and equipment
RM'000
89
20

Office
equipment
RM'000

Furniture and
fittings
RM'000

Total
RM'000

164
(31)
133

-

253
20
(31)
242

51

86
28
(31)
83

-

101
64
(31)
134

58

50

-

108

109

15
36
-

Net book value
At 31 December 2018

Cost

Premises, plant
and equipment
RM'000

Office
equipment
RM'000

Furniture and
fittings
RM'000

Total
RM'000

At 1 January 2017
Additions
Fully depreciated assets written off
At 31 December 2017

249
65
(225)
89

518
(354)
164

-

767
65
(579)
253

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
Fully depreciated assets written off
At 31 December 2017

230
10
(225)
15

386
54
(354)
86

-

616
64
(579)
101

74

78

-

152

Net book value
At 31 December 2017
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11. Deposits from customers
(i)

By type of deposit
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Demand deposits
- Qard ^
- Commodity Murabahah *
- Wadiah

828,431
816,203
12,228
-

822,028
1,665
820,363

Savings deposits
- Qard ^
- Commodity Murabahah *
- Wadiah

243,775
59,207
184,568
-

79,252
5,461
73,791

Term deposits
- Commodity Murabahah *
- Mudharabah

1,531,724
1,518,206
13,518

1,605,424
1,466,255
13,305

2,603,930

125,864
2,506,704

Negotiable instruments of deposits
- Bai-Inah

^ Wadiah based demand deposits and saving deposits have been converted to Qard effective 8 June 2018.
* Balances under Commodity Murabahah arrangement may contain incidental Qard elements due to timing differences
between the deposit placement renewal and the execution of Commodity Murabahah.
The maturity structure of the term deposits is as follows:2018
RM'000
Due within six months
Six months to one year
One year to three years

(ii)

1,100,779
427,408
3,537
1,531,724

2017
RM'000
1,517,284
75,610
12,530
1,605,424

By type of customers
2018
RM'000
Government and statutory bodies
Business enterprises
Individuals
Others

651,918
814,458
918,949
218,605
2,603,930

2017
RM'000
939,693
754,662
438,329
374,020
2,506,704
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12. Structured deposits
Structured deposits are customer deposits which comprise both deposits and investment elements. The balance is treated as
financial liaibilities held at fair value through profit or loss. Structured deposits of the Bank are placements based on the
principle of Commodity Murabahah.

13. Investment accounts of customers
Investment accounts of customers are profit sharing investment accounts based on the principle of Mudharabah. These are
unrestricted investment accounts whereby the Investment Account Holder ("IAH") appoints the Bank to manage based on the
Bank’s expertise as a fund manager.
The placements from the investment accounts of customers will be invested into commodity murabahah contracts with the
Bank’s designated counterparty where certain commodities are bought and sold at an agreed profit.
Profit on the investment accounts of customers is dependent on the pre-agreed profit sharing ratio and the performance of the
underlying assets and is distributed to the IAH at the end of the investment period. The profit sharing investment account
allows withdrawals and additional placements at any time and profit will be calculated based on the daily average balance at
the end of the investment period.
The commodity murabahah placements are not recognised in the statement of financial position of the Bank due to the nature
of the arrangement with the counterparty, where the funds will subsequently be placed with the Bank to fund certain Shariahcompliant assets.
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Unrestricted investment accounts
Without maturity
Mudharabah*

726,594

730,481

Movement in the Unrestricted Investment Account
As at 1 January
New placements during the year
Redemption during the year
Income from investment
Profit distributed to the Bank
As at 31 December
Investment asset:
Commodity Murabahah Placement-i
Total investment asset

730,481
1,279,913
(1,308,863)
34,054
(8,991)
726,594

726,594
726,594

668,677
1,034,154
(996,796)
33,653
(9,207)
730,481

730,481
730,481

* As of 31 December 2018, RM713.63 million of the investment account balance are from individuals (2017: RM717.88
million). The remaining RM12.96 million of the investment accounts are from business enterprises. (2017: RM12.60 million)
The average profit sharing ratio and average rate of return are as follows:
2018
(%)

2017
(%)

Unrestricted investment accounts
Average profit sharing ratio
Average rate of return on investment

73.60
4.72

72.64
4.62
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14. Deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions
2018
RM'000
Qard
Licensed banks
Commodity Murabahah
Other financial institutions

2017
RM'000

198,034

1,617,866

230,552
428,586

155,066
1,772,932

15. Restricted investment accounts due to designated financial institutions
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Restricted investment accounts
Mudharabah

3,004,937

1,689,377

By type of counterparties
Licensed bank

3,004,937

1,689,377

Mudharabah deposit placements of licensed bank are placements under Profit Sharing Investment Accounts ("PSIA") concept
by the Bank's immediate holding company.
Movement in the Restricted Investment Account
As at 1 January
New placements during the year
Redemption during the year
Income from investment
Profit distributed to the Bank
As at 31 December
Investment assets:
Financing and advances
Deposits and placements with banks and
other financial institutions
Total investment assets

1,689,377
1,796,776
(593,863)
135,218
(22,571)
3,004,937

1,937,198
547,496
(846,843)
57,915
(6,389)
1,689,377

2,431,916

752,076

573,021
3,004,937

937,301
1,689,377

The average profit sharing ratio and average rate of return are as follows:
2018
(%)

2017
(%)

Restricted investment accounts
Average profit sharing ratio

80.00

80.00

4.31

3.73

Average rate of return

16. Other liabilities
2018
RM'000
Income payable
Other payables and accruals

22,909
106,919
129,828

2017
RM'000
16,356
111,419
127,775
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17. Subordinated sukuk
2018
RM'000
Subordinated sukuk

2017
RM'000

100,000

100,000

On 29 March 2013, the Bank issued RM 100 million nominal value Subordinated Sukuk (“the Sukuk”) at profit rate of 4.85%
per annum, payable every six months period from the issue date. The rate is applicable throughout the tenure of the Sukuk.
The Sukuk, with a 10-year tenor, is due in March 2023, and is callable after 5 years at the Bank’s option, subject to consent of
Bank Negara Malaysia and satisfaction of redemption conditions. The Sukuk qualifies as Tier 2 capital of the Bank and shall
not be transferable nor tradeable. The Sukuk is issued under the principle of Murabahah.
The Sukuk is subject to the following redemption conditions:(a)

the Sukuk is replaced with capital of the same or better quality, and the replacement of the same capital is effected at
conditions which are sustainable for the income capacity of the Issuer; or

(b)

the Bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above BNM's capital adequacy requirements and capital buffer
requirements after the redemption.

The Sukuk has a loss absorption feature which requires the Sukuk to be cancelled upon the occurrence of a non-viability event
as determined by the regulators.

18. Share capital
2018
Amount
RM'000

2017
Number
of shares
unit '000

Amount
RM'000

Number
of shares
unit '000

Ordinary share of RM1 each
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January
Transfer from share premium *
At 31 December

102,750
308,250
411,000

102,750
102,750

102,750
102,750

102,750
102,750

* In accordance with Section 618 of Companies Act 2016, any amount standing to the credit of the share premium account
have become part of the Bank's share capital.

19. Reserves
Note
Non-distributable:
Share premium
Regulatory reserves
Fair value reserves
Distributable:
Retained profits
(i)

(ii)
(iii)

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

13,622
75
13,697

308,250
40
308,290

243,169
256,866

219,067
527,357

Prior to 31 January 2017, the application of the share premium account and the capital redemption reserve was
governed by Sections 60, 61 and 67A of the Companies Act 1965. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out
in Section 618 (2) of the new Companies Act 2016, any amount standing to the credit of the share premium account
and capital redemption reserve shall become part of the Bank's share capital.
The regulatory reserve is maintained in compliance with paragraph 10.5 of BNM's Revised Policy Document.
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity and debt securities designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income (2017: available-for-sale financial assets) until the assets are
derecognised or impaired.

Page 60

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

20. Income derived from investment of depositors' funds
2018
RM'000
Income derived from investment of:(i) Term deposits
(ii) Other deposits

(i)

96,719
57,179
153,898

221,939
51,993
273,932
-

Income derived from investment of term deposits
2018
RM'000
Finance income and hibah
Financing and advances
Investment securities
Money at call and deposits with financial institutions

Other operating income
Fees and commission income:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss
Fees and commission expense:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss

(ii)

2017
RM'000

2017
RM'000

67,997
1,879
20,219
90,095

190,726
2,724
16,010
209,460

8,610

16,525

(1,986)
6,624
96,719

(4,046)
12,479
221,939
-

Income derived from investment of other deposits
2018
RM'000
Finance income and hibah
Financing and advances
Investment securities
Money at call and deposits with financial institutions

Other operating income
Fees and commission income:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss
Fees and commission expense:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss

2017
RM'000

40,199
1,111
11,953
53,263

44,681
638
3,751
49,070

5,090

3,871

(1,174)
3,916
57,179

(948)
2,923
51,993
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21. Income derived from investment of investment account funds
2018
RM'000
Finance income and hibah
Financing and advances
Money at call and deposits with financial institutions

2017
RM'000

145,519
23,753
169,272

64,218
27,350
91,568

22. Income derived from investment of shareholder's funds
2018
RM'000
Finance income and hibah
Financing and advances
Investment securities
Money at call and deposits with financial institutions
Other operating income
Fees and commission income:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss
Fees and commission expense:- Arising from financial instruments not fair valued through profit or loss

2017
RM'000

29,249
808
8,697
38,754

30,577
437
2,567
33,581

3,704

2,649

(854)
2,850
41,604

(649)
2,000
35,581

23. (Release)/Allowances for expected credit losses/impairment provisions
2018
RM'000
Provisions for financing:Individual impairment provisions
- Made in the financial year
- Written back in respect of recoveries

2017
RM'000

-

45,327
56,924
(11,597)

-

(16,211)
10,206
(26,417)

Net allowances for expected credit losses:- Financing and advances
- Credit commitments and contingencies
- Financial assets held at FVOCI - investment securities

(923)
(4,977)
4,047
7

-

Amount recovered from impaired financing and advances
(Release)/allowances for credit losses/impairment provisions

(12,077)
(13,000)

(13,146)
15,970

Collective impairment provisions
- Made in the financial year
- Written back

24. Profit/hibah distributed to depositors
2018
RM'000
Deposits from customers
- Mudharabah fund
- Non-Mudharabah fund
Deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions
- Non-Mudharabah fund

2017
RM'000

3,393
66,827

816
63,774

15,904
86,124

110,293
174,883
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25. Profit/hibah distributed to investment account holders
2018
RM'000

Investment accounts of customers
Investment accounts due to designated financial institutions

2017
RM'000

25,063
112,647
137,710

24,446
51,526
75,972

26. Other operating expenses
2018
RM'000
64374
Personnel costs
- Salaries, bonuses, wages and allowances
- Pension fund contributions
- Other staff related costs
-16719
Establishment costs
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- Rental
- Information technology and project expenses
- Utilities and maintenance

10,907
1,599
1,712
14,218

10,282
1,244
1,759
13,285

64
962
787
902
2,715

64
990
1,069
546
2,669

21
367
388

24
166
190

230
9,175
66,159
4,986
80,550

123
4,633
74,630
6,898
86,284

97,871

102,428

Marketing expenses
- Advertisement and publicity
- Others

Administration and general expenses
- Communication expenses
- Group administration fees and business support expenses
- Management fee
- Others

Total other operating expenses

2017
RM'000

The above expenditure includes the following items:2018
RM'000
Auditor's remuneration:- Statutory audit fees
- Audit related fees
- Regulatory related fees

2017
RM'000

115
145
270

107
96
135
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27. Key Management, Shariah Committee and Other Material Risk Takers Remuneration
(i)

Chief Executive Officer's, Directors' and Shariah Committee members' remuneration
2018
RM'000
Directors and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")
- Fees
- Remuneration
- Other short term employee benefits (including estimated
monetary value of benefits-in-kind)
Total short-term employee benefits *
Shariah Committee members

2017
RM'000

164
1,812

80
1,292

125
2,101
302
2,403

1,372
293
1,665

All Directors' fees and other short term employee benefits are paid by its immediate holding company, SCBMB, which in
turn recharges the Bank in the form of management fees.
*

Details of Directors' remuneration of the Bank during the year are as follows:
Salary and other
remuneration,
including
meeting
allowance
RM'000

2018
CEO
- Mohammad Ali Allawala
(appointed on 26 April 2018
and resigned on 16 March
2019)
Non-executive Directors:- Datuk Yvonne Chia
- Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
- Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas
(resigned on 31 January 2019)

2017
Executive Director:- Adhha' Amir Dato Abdullah
(resigned on 25 August 2017)
Non-executive Directors:- Datuk Yvonne Chia
- Datuk Ishak bin Imam Abas
- Datuk Seri Michael Yam Kong Choy
- Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Sheriff bin
Mohd Kassim (resigned on
24 February 2017)
- Datuk Khairil Anuar Abdullah
(resigned on 4 May 2017)

Benefit-inkind
RM'000

Fees
RM'000

Total
RM'000

-

125

14
20

30
56

-

23
1,812

78
164

125

101
2,101

1,217

-

-

1,217

28
20
20

-

36
55
47

5

-

5

7
80

-

12
1,372

1,755

8
35
27

5
1,292

1,880

44
76
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27. Key Management, Shariah Committee and Other Material Risk Takers Remuneration (continued)
(ii)

Senior Management and Other Material Risk Takers' remuneration
Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Disclosure on Remuneration, the following disclosures are required to be made:
a) Information relating to the design and structure of the remuneration system
b) Description of the ways in which current and future risks are taken into account in the remuneration system
c) Description of the ways in which the financial institution seeks to link performance during a performance
measurement period with levels of remuneration
d) Description of the ways in which the financial institution seeks to adjust remuneration to take account of longer-term
performance
e) Description of the different forms of variable remuneration that the financial institution utilises and the rationale for
using these different forms
The Bank adopts the remuneration policy and systems of Standard Chartered PLC. Please refer to Supplementary
Information section for details of the governance structure, remuneration strategy, and how risk are taken into account in
the remuneration processes.
'Senior management' is defined as the appointed Executive Committee (“EXCO”) members for the Bank.
'Other Material Risk Takers (“MRTs”)' refers to an employee who is not a member of the EXCO and shall include:• Employees whose professional activities have or could have a material impact on the Bank’s risk profile following the
qualitative (role-based) and quantitative (remuneration level based) criteria defined by the Bank (“the Bank MRTs”);
and
• Employees whose total remuneration (fixed and variable remuneration) for 2018 are greater than or equal to RM1.5
million in the preceding financial year (“Highly Remunerated Employees”).
There is no MRT for the Bank during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. Aggregate
quantitative disclosure of the Bank's senior management remuneration is disclosed below.
Total value of remuneration awards
Senior Management
2018
2017
RM'000
RM'000
Fixed remuneration
Variable remuneration
Upfront cash
Deferred cash
Deferred shares

1,284

1,087

443
14
14

454
7
7

Total

1,755

1,555

1

1

Number of staff as at 31 December (actual)
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27. Key Management, Shariah Committee and Other Material Risk Takers Remuneration (continued)
(ii)

Senior Management and Other Material Risk Takers' remuneration (continued)
Deferred remuneration
Senior Management
2018
2017
RM'000
RM'000
At 1 January
Change in composition during the year
Awarded during the year
At 31 December

-

Vested during the year

-

28
(28)
-

14
14

-

Total amount of outstanding deferred remuneration
Senior Management
2018
2017
RM'000
RM'000
At 31 December
- Non-vested (Cash)

14

-

There were no guaranteed bonuses, sign-on awards and severance payments awarded to both senior management and
other material risk takers during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

28. Tax expense
2018
RM'000
Income tax expense:- Current period
- Over provision in prior years

2017
RM'000

17,147
(1,114)
16,033

8,689
(2,754)
5,935

Total tax expense

(2,932)
(8)
(2,940)
13,093

298
2,117
2,415
8,350

Reconciliation of tax expense:Profit before taxation

56,069

31,828

13,457
758

7,639
1,348

(1,114)
(8)
13,093

(2,754)
2,117
8,350

Deferred tax expense (Note 29):- Origination and reversal of temporary differences
- (Over)/Under provision in prior years

Income tax using Malaysian tax rate @ 24%
Non-deductible expenses
(Over)/Under provision in prior years
- Income tax
- Deferred tax
Total tax expense
Tax recognised directly in equity:Fair value reserves

7

267

29. Deferred tax
The recognised net deferred tax asset/(liability) after offsetting are as follows:2018
RM'000
Property, plant and equipment
Other temporary differences
Fair value reserves

41
6,033
(24)
6,050

2017
RM'000
144
2,990
(13)
3,121
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29. Deferred tax (continued)
Movement in temporary differences during the year are as follows:Property, plant
and equipment
RM'000
At 1 January 2017
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 28)
Recognised in equity (Note 28)
At 31 December 2017
MFRS 9 Day 1 impact (Note 3)
At 1 January 2018
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 28)
Recognised in equity (Note 28)
At 31 December 2018

252
(108)
144
144
(103)
41

Other temporary
differences
RM'000
5,297
(2,307)
2,990
2,990
3,043
6,033

Fair value
reserves
RM'000
254
(267)
(13)
(4)
(17)
(7)
(24)

Total
RM'000
5,803
(2,415)
(267)
3,121
(4)
3,117
2,940
(7)
6,050

30. Credit exposure to connected parties
The credit exposures of the Bank to connected parties, as defined by Bank Negara Malaysia's 'Guidelines on Credit
Transactions and Exposures with Connected Parties', are as follows:2018
RM'000
Aggregate value of outstanding credit exposures
to connected parties
As a percentage of total credit exposures

2017
RM'000

270,910
4.4%

288,589
4.3%

There are currently no exposures to connected parties which are classified as impaired.

31. Significant related party transactions and balances
Identity of related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Bank if the Bank has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Bank and the party are subject to common control or common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
The related parties of the Bank are:(i)

Immediate holding company
The immediate holding company is Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad ("SCBMB"), a company incorporated in
Malaysia.

(ii) Fellow subsidiaries of Standard Chartered PLC
Entities including the immediate holding company, which are related by virtue of having Standard Chartered PLC as the
ultimate holding company.
(iii) Key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Bank either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel of the Bank includes all
the Directors and certain members of senior management of the Bank.
(iv) Companies under control or significant influence of key management personnel
These are entities in which certain key management personnel hold key management positions or have significant voting
power via ownership of shares.
Transactions and balances relating to (i) are disclosed in Note (a) below, (ii) are disclosed in Note (b) while Note (c) discloses
those relating to (iii) and (iv).
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31. Significant related party transactions and balances (continued)
(a)

Transactions and balances with immediate holding company
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Expenditure
(i) By type of services
Profit paid on inter-company financing
Management services

117,231
66,159
183,390

108,047
74,630
182,677

183,390

182,677

(ii) By geographical distribution
Malaysia

2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Balances
Amount due from immediate holding company
Derivative financial instruments
Other balances

3,231
283,695
286,926

29,183
223,333
252,516

Amount due to immediate holding company
Inter-company financing
Derivative financial instruments
Other balances

(b)

(3,302,971)
(185,652)
(49,926)
(3,538,549)

(3,407,242)
(182,939)
(78,040)
(3,668,221)

Transactions and balances with fellow subsidiaries of Standard Chartered PLC (excluding immediate holding
company)
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Expenditure
(i) By type of services
Group administration and business support services
Fees and commission expenses for marketing services
Operations processing services

9,175
4,013
13,188

4,633
5,600
541
10,774

3,735
5,749
3,704
13,188

6,141
4,147
486
10,774

(ii) By geographical distribution
Malaysia
Great Britain
Singapore

2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Balances
Amount due from fellow subsidiaries of Standard Chartered PLC
Other balances

2,030

2,885

(6,243)
(6,366)
(12,609)

(3,776)
(9,652)
(13,428)

Amount due to fellow subsidiaries of Standard Chartered PLC
Amount due in respect of support charges
Other balances
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31. Significant related party transactions and balances (continued)
(c)

Transactions and balances with key management personnel and companies under control or significant influence
of key management personnel
Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in Note 27.
Transactions and balances other than compensation
2018
RM'000
Transactions
Income from depositors' funds
Profit on financing and advances
- Companies under control or significant influence of
significant
key management
influencepersonnel
of key management personnel

Income attributable to depositors
- Directors
- Other key management personnel

2017
RM'000

1,756
1,756

9
20
1,785
2018
RM'000

Balances
Financing and advances
- Companies under control or significant influence of
key management personnel
Deposits
- Directors
- Other key management personnel
- Companies under control or significant influence of
key management personnel

-

5
18
23
2017
RM'000

10,552

-

(283)
(653)

(302)
(661)

(27,503)

-

Advances made to key management personnel (including Directors) of the Bank are on similar terms and conditions
generally available to other employees of the Bank.

32. Earnings per ordinary share
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share is based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholder
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year:2018
RM'000
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholder
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at 31 December
Basic/diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)

2017
RM'000

42,976

23,478

102,750

102,750

41.8

22.8

Page 69

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

33. Commitments and contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers. No material losses are anticipated as a
result of these transactions.
The commitments and contingencies are as follows:-

Principal
amount
RM'000
Direct credit substitutes
Transaction-related contingent items
Short-term self liquidating trade-related
contingencies
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit:- maturity not exceeding one year
- maturity exceeding one year
Foreign exchange related contracts:- less than one year
- one year to less than five years
Profit rate related contracts:- one year to less than five years

As at 31 December 2018
Credit
equivalent
amount **
RM'000

Risk
weighted
amount **
RM'000

Principal
amount
RM'000

As at 31 December 2017
Credit
equivalent
amount **
RM'000

Risk
weighted
amount **
RM'000

24,122
119,615

24,122
113,905

10,057
16,410

13,591
256,891

12,237
194,941

3,964
42,885

22,492

22,492

8,363

70,373

23,776

8,245

3,966,252
523,718

194,900
25,403

159,287
43,448

4,130,051
419,623

254,684
16,180

251,840
12,809

1,847,247
1,188,073

39,092
120,406

18,076
54,853

1,291,601
2,080,252

48,668
103,458

12,599
18,726

1,389,619

21,807

5,539

1,487,573

46,152

6,941

9,081,138

562,127

316,033

9,749,955

700,096

358,009

Included in direct credit substitutes and transaction-related contingent items are the deals or contracts entered under Kafalah concept amounting to RM143.7 million (2017: RM270.5 million). All
deals and contracts in short-term self liquidating trade-related contingencies are entered under Wakalah concept amounting to RM22.5 million (2017: RM70.4 million).
**

Excluded from the credit equivalent and risk weighted amounts of the Bank are RM189.6 million (2017: RM398.9 million) and RM152.7 million (2017: RM267.4 million) respectively relating to
exposures funded by PSIA placements from SCBMB as provided by BNM's policy document on Investment Account. The related credit risk and exposure of facilities funded by the Specific
Investment Account are allowed to be transferred to SCBMB as the fund provider.
Foreign exchange and profit rate related contracts are subject to market risk and credit risk.
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34. Financial risk management policies
The Bank’s business activities involve the use of financial instruments, including derivatives. These activities expose the Bank
to a variety of financial risks, mainly credit risk, market risk, liquidity and capital risk and operational risk.
The main financial risks that the Bank is exposed to and how they are being managed are set out below:
(i)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a counterparty to meet its obligations to pay the Bank in
accordance with agreed terms. Credit exposures may arise from both the banking and trading books.
(a)

Risk Appetite Statement
The Bank manages its credit exposure following the principle of diversification across products, client segments and
industry sectors.

(b)

Mitigation
Group-wide credit policies and standards are established and approved by the Standard Chartered PLC Group ("the
Group") Risk Committee or individuals with authority delegated by Risk Authorities policy. The Group Risk
Committee oversees the delegation of credit approval and loan provisioning authorities. The principles for the
delegation, review and maintenance of credit approval authorities are defined in the Risk Authorities policy. In
addition, there are other Group-wide policies integral to credit risk management such as those relating to stress
testing, risk measurement and impairment provisioning.
Policies and procedures specific to each customer segment are established by individuals authorised via the Risk
Authorities policy. These are consistent with the Group-wide credit policies, but are more detailed and adopted to
reflect the different risk characteristics across customer segments. Policies are regularly reviewed and monitored to
ensure they remain effective and consistent with the risk environment and Risk Appetite.

(c)

Monitoring
The Bank regularly monitor credit exposures, portfolio performance, and external trends that may impact risk
management outcomes.
Internal risk management reports that are presented to risk committees contain information on key political and
economic trends, portfolio delinquency and loan impairment performance.
Credit risk committees meet regularly to assess the impact of external events and trends on the Group’s credit risk
portfolios and to define and implement response in terms of the appropriate changes to portfolio shape, portfolio and
underwriting standards, risk policy and procedures.
Clients or portfolios are subjected to additional review when they display signs of actual or potential weakness. Such
accounts and portfolios are subjected to a dedicated process where client account strategies and credit grades are
re-evaluated. In addition, remedial actions are agreed and monitored. Remedial actions include, but are not limited
to, exposure reduction, security enhancement, exiting the account or immediate movement of the accounts into the
control of the Group Special Assets Management ("GSAM"), the specialist recovery unit for Corporate & Institutional
Banking and Commercial Banking.
For Retail Banking exposures, portfolio delinquency trends are monitored continuously at a detailed level; individual
customer behavior is also tracked and considered for lending decisions. Accounts that are past due or charged-off
are subject to collections or recovery process respectively, and managed independently by the Risk function.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(i)

Credit risk (continued)
(d)

Credit Rating and Measurement
Risk measurement plays a central role along with judgement and experience, in informing risk-taking and portfolio
management decisions.
Since 1 January 2008, the Bank has used the advanced internal ratings-based approach under Basel II regulatory
framework to calculate credit risk capital requirements.
A standard alphanumeric credit risk grade system for Corporate & Institutional Banking and Commercial Banking is
used. The numeric grades run from 1 to 14 and some of the grades are further sub-classified. Lower numeric
grades are indicative of a lower likelihood of default. Credit grades 1 to 12 are assigned to performing customers,
while credit grade 13 and 14 are assigned to non-performing or defaulted customers.
Retail Banking internal ratings-based portfolios use application and behavior credit scores that are calibrated to
generate a probability of default and then mapped to the standard alphanumeric credit risk grade system. The Bank
refers to external ratings from credit bureaus (where these are available). However, the Bank does not rely solely on
these to determine Retail Banking credit grades.
Advanced internal ratings-based models cover a substantial majority of the Bank's exposures and are used in
assessing risk at a customer and portfolio level, setting strategy and optimising the Bank's risk return decisions.
Material internal ratings-based risk measurement models are approved by the Stress Testing Committee on the
recommendation of the Credit Model Assessment Committee ("CMAC"). CMAC approves all other internal ratingsbased risk measurement models, with key decisions noted to the Stress Testing Committee. Prior to review by the
CMAC, all internal rating-based models are validated in detail by a model validation team which is separate from the
teams that develop and maintain the model. Models undergo annual validation by the model validation team.
Reviews are also triggered if the performance of a model deteriorates materially against pre-determined thresholds
during the on-going model performance monitoring process which takes place between the annual validations.

(e)

Credit Concentration Risk
Credit concentration risk may arise from a single large exposure to a counterparty or a group of connected
counterparties, or from multiple exposures across the portfolio that are closely correlated. Large exposure
concentration risk is managed through concentration limits set for a counterparty or a group of connected
counterparties based on control and economic dependence criteria.
Risk Appetite metrics are set at portfolio level and monitored to control concentrations, where appropriate, by
industry, specific products, tenor, collateralisation level, top 20 concentration and exposure to holding companies.
Single name credit concentration thresholds are set by a Client Group depending on credit grade, and by customer
segment. For concentrations that are material at a Group level, breaches and potential breaches are monitored by
the respective governance committees and reported to the Group Risk and Board Risk Committees.

(f)

Traded Products
Credit risk from traded products derives from the positive mark-to-market value of the underlying instruments, and
an additional component to cater for potential future market movements. This counterparty credit risk is managed
within the Group’s overall credit Risk Appetite for corporate and financial institutions. In addition to analysing
potential future movements, the Group uses various single and multi-risk factor stress test scenarios to identify and
manage counterparty credit risk across derivatives and securities financing transactions.
The Group uses bilateral and multilateral netting to reduce pre-settlement and settlement counterparty credit risk.
Pre-settlement risk exposures are normally netted using bilateral netting documentation in legally approved
jurisdictions. Settlement exposures are generally netted using Delivery versus Payments or Payment versus
Payments systems. Master netting agreements are generally enforced only in the event of default. In line with
MFRS 132: Financial Instruments Presentation , derivative exposures are presented on a net basis in the financial
statements only if there is a legal right to offset and there is intent to settle on a net basis or realise the assets and
liabilities simultaneously.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(i)

Credit risk (continued)
(f)

Traded Products (continued)
In addition, the Group enters into credit support annexes ("CSAs") with counterparties where collateral is deemed a
necessary or desirable mitigant to the exposure. The netting and collateral enforceability status of previously
approved jurisdictions is periodically reviewed. This is undertaken as and when industry opinions are updated or
where a change in the law or significant event in a relevant jurisdiction requires a re-assessment of the conclusions
previously drawn under the existing opinion.
Wrong-way risk occurs when an exposure increase is coupled with a decrease in the credit quality of the obligor.
Specifically, as the mark-to-market on a derivative contract or a repurchase agreement contract increases in favour
of the Group, the driver of this mark-to-market change also reduces the ability of the counterparty to meet its
payment, margin call or collateral posting requirements. The Group employs various policies and procedures to
ensure that wrong-way risk exposures are identified, measured and managed.

(g)

Securities
The limits for the underwriting of securities to be held for sale are approved by the Underwriting Committee, under
the authority of the Corporate & Institutional Banking Risk Committee. The limits contain the overall size of the
securities inventory, the maximum holding period, the daily value at risk, the sensitivity to interest rate and credit
spread moves. The Underwriting Committee approves individual proposals to underwrite new security issues for the
Bank's clients.
Day-to-day credit risk management activities for traded securities are carried out by a specialist team within the Risk
function whose activities include oversight and approval within the levels delegated by the Underwriting Committee.
Issuer credit risk, including settlement and pre-settlement risk, and price risks are controlled by the Risk function.
Where an underwritten security is held for a period longer than the target sell-down period, the final decision on
whether to sell the position rests with the Risk function.

(h)

Impairment Measurement
MFRS 9 introduces a new impairment model that requires the recognition of ECL rather than incurred losses under
MFRS 139. This applies to all financial assets held at amortised cost, financial assets held at FVOCI, undrawn
financing commitments and financial guarantees.
The Bank has not restated comparative information. Accordingly, amounts prior to 1 January 2018 are prepared and
disclosed on an MFRS 139 basis. This primarily impacts the credit risk disclosures.
The accounting policies under MFRS 9 are set out in Note 2(a) and the impact upon adoption as at 1 January 2018
is set out in Note 3.
Approach for determining ECL under MFRS 9
The Bank has adopted a statistical modeling approach for determining expected credit loss. To determine the
expected credit loss, the following components are multiplied together and discounted to the balance sheet date
using the effective interest rate as the discount rate.
ECL component
Probability of default (PD)

Definition
The probability at a point in time that counterparty will default, calibrated over up
to 12 months from the reporting date or over the lifetime of the product and
incorporating the impact of forward-looking economic assumptions that have on
credit risk such as interest rates, unemployment rates and GDP forecasts.

Loss given default (LGD)

The loss that is expected to arise on default, incorporating the impact of forwardlooking economic assumptions where relevant, which represents the difference
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the bank expects to
receive.
The Bank estimates LGD based on the history of recovery rates and considers
the recovery of any collateral that is integral to the financial assets, taking into
account forward-looking economic assumptions where relevant.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(i)

Credit risk (continued)
(h)

Impairment Measurement (continued)
Approach for determining ECL under MFRS 9 (continued)
ECL component (continued)
Exposure at default (EAD)

Definition (continued)
The expected balance sheet exposure at the time of default, taking into account
the expected change in the exposure over the lifetime of the exposure. This
incorporates the impact of drawdown of committed facilities, repayments of
principal and interest, amortisation and prepayments, together with the impact of
forward-looking economic assumptions where relevant, e.g. unemployment rates
and GDP forecasts.

Although the MFRS 9 models leverage the existing Basel advance IRB risk components, several significant
adjustments are required to ensure the resulting outcome is in line with MFRS 9 requirements.
Basel Advanced IRB Expected Loss

MFRS 9 Expected Credit Loss

Rating philosophy

Mix of point-in-time, through-the-cycle Point-in-time, forward looking
or hybrid

Parameters calibration

Often conservative, due to regulatory Unbiased estimate, based on conditions
floors and downturn calibration
known at the balance sheet date

- PD

-

Inclusion of forward-looking information
and removal of conservatism and bias

- LGD

-

Removal of regulatory floors, exclusion of
non-direct cost

- EAD

-

Recognises ability to have a reduction in
exposure from the balance sheet date to
the default date

Time frame

Floored at outstanding amount

Up to 12 months or lifetime

Discounting applied

Discounting at the weighted average Discounting at the effective profit rate
cost of capital to the time of default
("EPR") to the balance sheet reporting
date

Forecast of key macroeconomic variables
It is a fundamental principle of MFRS 9 that the provision that banks hold against potential future credit risk losses
should depend not just the health of the economy today, but should also take account of changes to the economic
environment in the future.
To capture the effect of changes to the economic environment in the future, the computation of PD, LGD and so
expected credit loss incorporates forward-looking information, assumptions on the path of economic variables and
asset prices that are likely to have an effect on the repayment abilities of the Bank’s clients.
The starting point for the projections of economic variables and asset prices is based on management’s view of the
most likely outcome. While the most likely outcome is the basis of the Bank’s strategic plan, one of the key
requirements of MFRS 9 is that the assessment of provision should be based on a range of potential outcomes for
the future economic environment.
To address the potential non-linearity in expected credit loss, the Bank simulates a set of scenarios around the base
forecast and generates 50 scenarios upon which to compute expected credit loss. These scenarios are generated
by a Monte Carlo simulation, which considers the degree of uncertainty around economic outcomes, how these
outcomes are generally tended to move together (or correlation), and how the range of reasonably possible
outcomes would be defined.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(i)

Credit risk (continued)
(h)

Impairment Measurement (continued)
Forecast of key macroeconomic variables (continued)
While the 50 scenarios do not each have a specific narrative, there reflect a range of plausible hypothetical
alternative outcomes for the global economy. Some are better than the base forecast and some are worse than the
base forecast.
The table below sets out a summary of the economic variables and asset prices that the Bank considers to be
among the most important determinates of the Bank’s expected credit loss. The key data provided is the average
expected outturn for each economic variable and asset price in the base forecast over the next five years in the
most likely scenario and an indicator of the range of each economic variable and asset price over the same period
across the multiple scenarios.
31 December 2018
GDP growth (YoY %)
Unemployment (%)
3-month interest rates (%)
House price (YoY %)

Base forecast
5.00
2.96
3.81
6.45

Low (Note A)
2.25
1.74
2.36
3.96

High (Note B)
8.23
3.93
5.27
8.86

Note A: Represents the 10th percentile in the range used to determine non-linearity
Note B: Represents the 90th percentile in the range used to determine non-linearity
(ii) Market risk
Market risk is the potential for loss of economic value due to adverse changes in the financial market rates or prices.
(a)

Risk Appetite Statement
The Bank should controls its trading portfolio and activities to ensure that market risk losses do not cause material
damage to the Bank.

(b)

Mitigation
The Group controls its trading portfolio and activities to ensure that the market risk losses do not cause material
damage to the Group by assessing the various market risk factors. These are captured and analysed using
proprietary and custom built analytical tools, in addition to risk managers’ specialist market and product knowledge.
Market and Traded Credit Risk ("MTCR") has market risk policies and procedures in place to ensure that
appropriate market risk limits are implemented. The Group’s market risk exposure is aligned with its appetite for
market risk and assessing potential losses that might be incurred by the Group as a consequence of extreme but
plausible events.
Market risk limits are applied as required by the Market Risk Limit Policy and related procedures. All businesses
incurring market risk must do so in compliance with the Market Risk Limit Policy. The Market Risk Limit Policy
requires that market risk limits are defined at a level appropriate to ensure that the Group remains within market
Risk Appetite. The market Risk Appetite metrics are defined in terms of VaR and stress loss, therefore all material
market risk must be captured by these metrics.
The Market Risk Stress Testing Policy is designed to ensure that adherence to Group market risk stress appetite is
achieved. Stress testing aims at supplementing other risk metrics used within the bank by providing a forwardlooking view of positions and an assessment of their resilience to stressed market conditions. The outcome of the
stress tests is discussed across the various business lines and management levels so that existing and potential
risk can be reviewed and related management actions can be decided upon where appropriate.
Policies are reviewed and approved by the Global Head, MTCR annually to ensure their ongoing effectiveness and
sustainability.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(ii) Market risk (continued)
(c)

Monitoring
MTCR monitors the overall portfolio risk and ensures that it is within specified limits and therefore complies with the
Bank's Risk Appetite. The annual and mid-year limit review processes provide opportunities for the business and
MTCR to review risk in light of performance.
Market risk exposures are monitored daily against approved limits. Intra-day risk exposures may vary from those
reported at the end of the day. Limit excess approval decisions are informed by factors such as an assessment of
the returns that will result from an incremental increase to the business risk exposure. Limits and excesses can only
be approved by a market risk manager with the appropriate delegated authority.
Stress testing is the basis for internal economic capital and economic profit reporting for market risk. Incremental
Risk Charge is also used to reflect credit default and migration risk. Financial Market traders may adjust their
market risk exposures within approved limits and assess risk/reward trade-offs according to market conditions.
MTCR reports and monitors limits applied to stressed exposures. Stress loss excesses are discussed with the
business and approved where appropriate based on delegated authority levels.

(d)

Value at Risk ("VaR") Measurement
The Bank applies VaR as a measure of the risk of loss arising from future potential adverse movements in market
rates, process and volatilities. VaR, in general, is a quantitative measure of market risk that applies recent historical
market conditions to estimate the potential future loss in market value that will not be exceeded in a set time period
at a set statistical confidence level. VaR provides a consistent measure that can be applied across trading
businesses and products over time and can be set against actual daily trading profit and loss outcome.
VaR is calculated for expected movements over a minimum one business day and to a confidence level of 97.5 per
cent. This confidence level suggest that potential daily losses in excess of the VaR measure are likely to be
experienced six times per year.
The Bank applies two VaR methodologies:




Historical simulation: involves the revaluation of all existing positions to reflect the effect of historically observed
changes in market risk factors on the valuation of the current portfolio. This approach is applied for general
market risk factors and the majority of specific (credit spread) risk VaR.
Monte Carlo simulation: this methodology is similar to historical simulation but with considerably more input risk
factor observations. These are generated by random sampling techniques, but the results retain the essential
variability and correlations of historically observed risk factor changes. This approach is now applied for some of
the specific (credit spread) risk VaR in relation to idiosyncratic exposures in credit markets.

In both methods a historical observation period of one year is chosen and applied. VaR is calculated as the Bank’s
exposure as at the close of business. Intra-day risk levels may vary from those reported at the end of the day.
To assess their on-going performance, VaR models are backtested against actual results.
(iii) Capital and Liquidity Risk
Capital risk is the potential for insufficient level or composition of capital to support the Bank normal activities. Liquidity
risk is the potential for failure where the Bank may not has sufficient stable or diverse sources of funding or financial
resources to meet the Bank's obligations as they fall due.
(a)

Risk Appetite Statement
The Bank maintains a strong capital position, including the maintenance of management buffers sufficient to support
its strategic aims and holds an adequate buffer of high quality liquid assets to survive extreme but plausible liquidity
stress scenarios without recourse to extraordinary central bank support.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(iii) Capital and Liquidity Risk (continued)
(b)

Mitigation
Below are some of the mitigation approaches in addressing capital and liquidity risk:
(i) Capital Planning:
Strategic business and capital plans are drawn up annually covering a three-year horizon and approved by the
Board. The capital plan ensures that adequate levels of capital and an optimum mix of the different components
of capital are maintained to support the Bank's strategy and business plans.
Capital planning takes the following into account:




Current regulatory capital requirements and the Bank's assessment of future standards;
Demand for capital due to the business and loan impairment outlook and potential market shocks or
stresses; and
Available supply of capital and capital raising options.

The Funding Plan is also developed to ensure we have a credible plan to manage the future demand and
supply of funds in a prudent yet commercially effective manner.
(ii) Stress Testing:
Stress testing and scenario analysis are an integral part of the capital and liquidity framework, and are used to
ensure that the Bank's Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") consider the impact of severe
but plausible scenarios on its risk profile. The Asset and Liability Committee ("ALCO") provide an insight into the
potential impact of significant adverse event on the Bank's capital and liquidity position and how these could be
mitigated through appropriate management actions.
(iii) Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is managed through the Bank's ALCO. This committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for both statutory and prudential liquidity.
The Bank implement various business-as-usual and stress risk metrics and monitor these against limits. This
ensures that the Bank maintains an adequate and well-diversified liquidity buffer and stable funding base. The
approach to managing the risks and the Board-approved Risk Appetite metrics are assessed annually.
(c)

Monitoring
ALCO is responsible to oversee the management of capital and liquidity with appropriate escalation processes in
place for any breach of limits. This includes the local capital and liquidity risks, local prudential requirements and
risks arising from local internal and external events. Internal risk management reports covering the balance sheet
and the capital and liquidity position of the Bank are presented to ALCO. Overall responsibility for effective
management of risk rests with the Board.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(iii) Capital and Liquidity Risk (continued)
(d)

Capital adequacy measurement
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”) published a framework for International Convergence of
Capital Measurement and Capital Standards (commonly referred to as ‘Basel II’), which replaced the original 1988
Basel I Accord. Basel II is structured around three ‘pillars’ which are outlined below:
•
•

•

Pillar 1 sets out minimum regulatory capital requirements – the minimum amount of regulatory capital banks
must hold against the risks they assume;
Pillar 2 sets out the key principles for supervisory review of a bank’s risk management framework and its capital
adequacy. It sets out specific oversight responsibilities for the Board of Directors ("the Board") and senior
management, thus reinforcing principles of internal control and other corporate governance practices; and
Pillar 3, covered in the supplementary financial information (unaudited), aims to bolster market discipline through
enhanced disclosure by banks.

Basel II provides three credit risk approaches of increasing sophistication, namely, The Standardised Approach
("TSA"), the Foundation Internal Ratings Based Approach (“FIRB”) and the Advanced Internal Ratings Based
Approach (“AIRB”).
In Malaysia, the Capital Adequacy Framework (Basel II - Risk Weighted Assets) came into effect on 1 January
2013, last updated on 2 February 2018. The framework (previously known as Risk Weighted Capital Adequacy
Framework Basel II - Risk Weighted Assets Computation) sets out the requirements on the computation of the riskweighted assets developed based on the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("BCBS") and the Islamic
Financial Services Board (IFSB) papers "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards:
A Revised Framework" issued in June 2006 and the "Capital Adequacy Standard ("CAS")" issued in December
2005, respectively. The framework forms part of the overall capital adequacy framework, hence should be read
alongside the Capital Adequacy Framework (Capital Components).
BNM formally approved Standard Chartered Saadiq Berhad ("SCSB" or "the Bank") to use AIRB approach for
calculating and reporting credit risk regulatory capital in June 2010. As a result, since July 2010 regulatory capital
submission, the Bank has been using AIRB approach for calculating and reporting the credit risk capital
requirement. Formal approval was also obtained from BNM in May 2013 for the use of TSA for calculating and
reporting operational risk. Effective September 2013, the Bank commenced the use of TSA approach for calculating
and reporting operational risk capital requirement.
The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank is disclosed in Note 38.
(iv) Operational risk
The Bank defines Operational Risk as the potential for loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, and
systems, human error, or from the impact of external events, including legal risks and Shariah non-compliance risk.
(a)

Risk Appetite Statement
The Bank aims to control operational risks to ensure that operational losses (financial or reputational), including any
related to conduct of business matters, do not cause material damage to the Bank’s franchise.

(b)

Mitigation
The Operational Risk Framework (“ORF”) sets out the Bank’s overall approach to the management of operational
risk in line with the Bank’s Risk Appetite. The approach reinforces the three lines of defence and serves to
continually improve the Bank’s ability to anticipate and control material risks. It also requires the need for clear
ownership and accountability for all processes across the Bank. Risk assessment is used to determine the design
strength and reliability of each process to prevent risks.
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34. Financial risk management policies (continued)
(iv) Operational risk (continued)
(b)

Mitigation (continued)
The operational risk management requires:


All processes and risks to be identified, owned, and recorded in the Process Universe
All processes are mapped and all risks are identified
All processes are standardised except for regulatory or legitimate system exceptions
All gross risks are rated by assessing the realistic worst outcome of a process breaking down
All processes with Very High or High Gross Risks identified are classified as ‘Critical’ and have the greatest
potential to breach Risk Assessment
Industrial strength process design standards are applied to Critical Processes
Control tolerance standards to be set for each control for quantity, materiality and timeliness of detection and
rectification of defects








The Bank fulfills the requirements of the approach by defining and maintaining a process universe for all client
segments, products, and functions. The Process Universe is the complete set of processes that collectively
describes the activities of the Bank and is the common reference for the approach to operational risk management.
Each process is owned by a named individual who is responsible for the outcomes of the process and the design,
monitoring and effectiveness of the control environment.
Potential failures in processes are identified by process owners and risk framework owners using their expert
judgement. These potential failures are risk assessed against a pre-defined operational risk assessment matrix
which must be approved by individuals delegated within the Risk Authorities policy. Risks that fall above the Bank’s
Risk Appetite levels require a time-bound treatment plan to address the potential failures, and are monitored until
the risk is reduced to within acceptable levels.
(c)

Monitoring
Operational Risk Appetite metrics are set against each top risk. These are included as part of the operational risk
profile which comprises the following elements:





Top Risk performance against Risk Appetite
Losses, near misses and related insights
Changes to the internal or external environment
Results of audit and regulatory reviews, or other independent findings

The operational risk profile is aggregated and reported at relevant committees defined at the Bank, business,
regional, country and function level. This provides senior management with the relevant information to inform their
risk decisions. The completeness of the operational risk profile ensures appropriate prioritisation and promptness of
risk decisions, including risk acceptances with treatment plans for risks that are beyond the acceptable threshold.
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Categories of financial instruments
The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:(a) Amortised cost
(b) Fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
(c) Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")
(d) Financing and receivables ("F&R")
(e) Available-for-sale financial assets ("AFS")
(f) Other liabilities ("OL")

2018

Carrying
amount
RM'000

Amortised
cost
RM'000

FVTPL
RM'000

FVOCI
RM'000

Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Other balances
Total financial assets

1,852,990
100,375
5,308,744
184,650
399,601
7,846,360

1,852,990
5,308,744
399,601
7,561,335

184,650
184,650

100,375
100,375

2,603,930
3,642
726,594

2,603,930
726,594

3,642
-

-

428,586

428,586

-

-

3,004,937
189,413
100,000
129,828
7,186,930

3,004,937
100,000
129,828
6,993,875

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to
designated financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Other balances
Total financial liabilities

189,413
193,055

-

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other sources
of funds of the Bank of RM2,432 million and RM2,877 million respectively.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

2017

Carrying
amount
RM'000

F&R /
OL
RM'000

FVTPL
RM'000

AFS
RM'000

Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
Other balances
Total financial assets

1,612,916
100,524
5,538,789
207,304
326,739
7,786,272

1,612,916
5,538,789
326,739
7,478,444

207,304
207,304

100,524
100,524

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

2,506,704
730,481

25,490
-

-

1,772,932

1,772,932

-

1,689,377
209,822
100,000
127,775
7,162,581

1,689,377
100,000
127,775
6,927,269

-

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to
designated financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Other balances
Total financial liabilities

209,822
235,312

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other sources
of funds of the Bank of RM752 million and RM4,787 million respectively.
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial instruments
2018
RM'000
Investment securities
- recognised in other comprehensive income
- income from depositors' funds and others
Financing and receivables
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

3,814
16
3,798
360,976
(223,834)
140,956

2017
RM'000
(8,004)
845
(8,849)
409,930
(250,855)
151,071
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Credit risk
(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following tables present the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk of their on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet
financial instruments at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, and credit exposures covered by collaterals and other
credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet and other financial instruments, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amount reported on the statement of financial position. For off-balance sheet financial instruments, the maximum
exposure to credit risk represents the contractual nominal amounts.
2018

Maximum
exposures
to credit risk
RM'000
On-balance sheet assets
Money at call and deposits placements
maturing within one month
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Income receivable
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara
Malaysia
Off-balance sheet items
Contingent commitments
Undrawn irrevocable standby facilities,
credit lines and other commitments
to lend

2017

Credit
exposures
covered by
collaterals
and other
credit
enhancements
RM'000

Maximum
exposures
to credit risk
RM'000

Credit
exposures
covered by
collaterals
and other
credit
enhancements
RM'000

1,848,000
100,375
5,308,744
184,650
1,472

3,117,473
-

1,607,557
100,524
5,538,789
207,304
2,206

2,796,098
-

47,980
7,491,221

3,117,473

139,012
7,595,392

2,796,098

166,229

23,793

340,855

25,540

4,489,970
4,656,199

29,896
53,689

4,549,674
4,890,529

28,963
54,503

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other

sources of funds of the Bank of RM2,432 million (2017: RM752 million) and RM2,877 million (2017: RM4,787 million)
respectively.

Page 82

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
35. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(ii) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The tables below set out carrying amounts of recognised financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to
International Swaps and Derivatives Association ("ISDA") or similar master netting arrangements but do not meet the
criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position. This is because the parties to the ISDA agreement provides the
right of set-off of recognised amounts that is only enforceable in event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or
the counterparties or following other predetermined events. However, as Malaysia is currently not a clear netting jurisdiction,
the Bank may not be able to enforce set-off in the event of default. In addition, the Bank and its counterparties also do not
intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Carrying
amounts of
recognised
Related financial
# instruments that
financial
instruments in
are not offset in
the statement of
the statement of
financial
financial
position
position
RM'000
RM'000

Net amount
RM'000

2018
Derivative financial assets

Derivative financial liabilities

184,650

(4,130)

180,520

(189,413)

4,130

(185,283)

207,304

(27,088)

180,216

(209,822)

27,088

(182,734)

2017
Derivative financial assets

Derivative financial liabilities
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(iii) Summary analysis of financing and advances
2018
RM'000
Gross impaired financing and advances
Past due but not impaired financing and advances
Neither past due nor impaired financing and advances
Total financing and advances
Expected credit losses/impairment provisions

63,010
337,003
4,978,682
5,378,695
(69,951)
5,308,744

2017
RM'000
43,181
425,242
5,166,618
5,635,041
(96,252)
5,538,789

Credit quality
Financing and advances neither past due nor impaired
Analysis of financing and advances that are neither past due nor impaired analysed based on internal grading system is as
follows:
2018
RM'000
Neither past due nor individually impaired
- Grades 1-5
- Grades 6-7
- Grades 8-9
- Grades 10-12

2,210,190
1,508,793
831,380
428,319
4,978,682

2017
RM'000
2,271,661
1,791,394
741,752
361,811
5,166,618

Financing and advances past due but not individually impaired
The following tables set out the ageing of financing and advances, which are past due and for which no individual
impairment provisions have been raised. A financing is considered to be past due when the counterparty has failed to
make a principal or profit payment when contractually due. Past due does not necessarily mean that a financing is
impaired.
2018
RM'000
Up to 30 days past due
Between 31 - 60 days past due
Between 61 - 90 days past due

274,866
45,810
16,327
337,003

2017
RM'000
352,894
48,080
24,268
425,242
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(iii) Summary analysis of financing and advances (continued)
Credit quality (continued)
Financing and advances past due but not individually impaired (continued)
The following tables show the Bank's impaired financing and advances, expected credit losses/ impairment provisions by
significant geographic areas.
2018

Within
Malaysia
RM'000

Gross impaired financing and advances
Expected credit losses

Outside
Malaysia
RM'000

63,010
37,666
Within
Malaysia
RM'000

2017

Gross impaired financing and advances
Individual impairment provisions
Collective impairment provisions

Total
RM'000
-

Outside
Malaysia
RM'000

43,181
31,799
64,453

63,010
37,666

Total
RM'000

-

43,181
31,799
64,453

(iv) Summary analysis on securities portfolio
The following table summarises the quality of investment securities held by the Bank. As at statement of financial position
date, the Bank does not have any impaired securities, all debt securities neither past due nor impaired by external credit
rating are summarised as follows:2018
RM'000
Government securities

100,375

2017
RM'000
100,524

(v) Amount arising from MFRS 9 Expected Credit Losses ("ECL")
ECL under MFRS 9 applies to all financial assets held at amortised cost, financial assets held at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVOCI"), undrawn financing commitment and financial guarantee.
Instrument
Financial assets held at amortised cost

Location of ECL
Loss provisions: netted against gross carrying value

Financial assets held at FVOCI - investment securities

Other comprehensive income (FVOCI expected credit loss
reserve) ^

Undrawn financing commitments and financial guarantee - Provisions for liability and charges *
credit commitments and contingencies

^

Financial assets classified as FVOCI are held at fair value on the face of the balance sheet. The ECL attributed to
these instruments is held as a separate reserve within OCI and is recycled to the profit or loss account along with any
fair value measurement gains or losses held within FVOCI when the applicable instruments are derecognised.

*

ECL on undrawn financing commitments and financial guarantees is recognised as a liability provision. Where a
financial instrument includes both a financing and undrawn commitment and it is not possible to separately identify the
ECL on these components, the ECL amount on the financing commitments are recognised together with the ECL
amount on the financial asset. To the extent the combined ECL exceeds the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets, the ECL is recognised as a liability provision.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(v) Amount arising from MFRS 9 ECL (continued)
The following tables show the ECL breakdown by staging and reconciliation from the opening to closing balance of total ECL allowance. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the
allowance account for credit losses and reflect the measurement basis under MFRS 139.
2018
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not creditcredit12-month ECL
impaired
impaired
(Stage 1)
(Stage 2)
(Stage 3)
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
Financial assets held at amortised cost of which:
- Financing and advances to customers
Credit commitments and contingencies
Financial assets held at FVOCI - investment securities

2017

Total
RM'000

3,364

12,375

54,212

69,951

52

5,007

-

5,059

25
3,441

17,382

54,212

25
75,035

Collective
impairment
provisions
RM'000

Individual
impairment
provisions
RM'000

64,453

31,799

64,453

31,799

Total
RM'000

96,252
96,252

Per the Revised Policy Document, the Bank is required to maintain, in aggregate, loss allowances for non-credit-impaired exposures and regulatory reserves of no less than 1.00% of total
credit exposures (excluding exposures to Government of Malaysia, Bank Negara Malaysia and licensed banks), net of loss allowance for credit-impaired exposures. As of 31 December
2018, the loss allowance for non-credit-impared exposures and regulatory reserves, as a percentage of credit exposures less loss allowance for credit-impaired exposures is above the
regulatory minimum after excluding the exposures funded by PSIA placements from Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad ("SCBMB"), where the underlying credit risk and loss
allowance for financing assets funded by PSIA are held at the fund provider, SCBMB.
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Credit risk (continued)
(v) Amount arising from MFRS 9 ECL (continued)
Movements in allowances for credit losses/impairment provisions
2018
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not creditcredit12-month ECL
impaired
impaired
(Stage 1)
(Stage 2)
(Stage 3)
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
Financing and advances
Balance at 1 January
Transfer to 12-month ECL
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired
Transter to lifetime ECL credit-impaired
Net remeasurement of loss allowance *
Write-offs
Written back in respect of recoveries
Foreign exchange and other movements
At end of reporting year
Credit commitments and contingencies
Balance at 1 January
Net remeasurement of loss allowance
Foreign exchange and other movements
At end of reporting year

12,936
27,453
(4,977)
(31)
(32,047)
30
3,364

299
(250)
3
52

32,797
(26,969)
6,529
(10,316)
10,334
12,375

710
4,297
5,007

57,228
(484)
(1,552)
10,347
16,736
(28,063)
54,212

-

2017

Total
RM'000

102,961 ^
(4,977)
(28,063)
30
69,951

1,009 ^
4,047
3
5,059

Collective
impairment
provisions
RM'000

80,664
10,206
(26,417)
64,453

-

Individual
impairment
provisions
RM'000

26,162
56,924
(39,690)
(11,597)
31,799

-

Total
RM'000

106,826
67,130
(39,690)
(38,014)
96,252

-

There were no transfer between Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 ECL for credit commitments and contingencies during the year.
* Included in net remeasurement allowance is a transfer to SCBMB under PSIA arrangement amounting to RM10.95 million.
^ Balance as of 1 January 2018 have been applied retrospectively with MFRS 9 Day 1 impact.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(v) Amount arising from MFRS 9 ECL (continued)
Movements in allowances for credit losses/impairment provisions (continued)
2018
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not creditcredit12-month ECL
impaired
impaired
(Stage 1)
(Stage 2)
(Stage 3)
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
Financial assets held at FVOCI - investment securities
Balance at 1 January
Net remeasurement of loss allowance
At end of reporting year

18
7
25

-

-

2017
Collective
impairment
provisions
RM'000

Total
RM'000

18 ^
7
25

-

Individual
impairment
provisions
RM'000

-

Total
RM'000

-

There were no transfer between Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 ECL for financial assets held at FVOCI - investment securities during the year.
^ Balance as of 1 January 2018 have been applied retrospectively with MFRS 9 Day 1 impact.
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Liquidity risk
(i) Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities
The following tables summarise assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining contractual maturities as at the financial year end.
These disclosures are made in accordance with the requirement of the Revised Policy Document:

As at 31 December 2018

3 months
or less
RM'000

> 3 - 12
months
RM'000

>1-5
years
RM'000

Over 5
years
RM'000

No specific
maturity
RM'000

Total
RM'000

Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Other assets
Current tax assets
Statutory deposits with Bank
Negara Malaysia
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

1,852,990
967,789
2,415
351,621
-

125,182
117,068
-

100,375
1,013,879
65,167
-

3,271,845
-

(69,951) ^
7,337

1,852,990
100,375
5,308,744
184,650
351,621
7,337

3,174,815

242,250

1,179,421

3,271,845

47,980
108
6,050
(8,476)

47,980
108
6,050
7,859,855

Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of
customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial
institutions
Restricted investment accounts
due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Provision for credit commitments
and contingencies

1,328,382
-

1,272,011
-

3,537
3,642

-

-

2,603,930
3,642

Net liquidity gap

726,594

-

-

-

-

726,594

388,605

39,981

-

-

-

428,586

2,795,287
3,131
129,828
-

209,650
117,046
-

69,236
-

100,000

-

3,004,937
189,413
129,828
100,000

5,371,827

1,638,688

76,415

100,000

5,059
5,059

5,059
7,191,989

(2,197,012)

(1,396,438)

1,103,006

3,171,845

(13,535)

667,866

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other
sources of funds of the Bank of RM 2,432 million and RM 2,877 million respectively.
^ Mainly made up of expected credit loss allowance.
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Liquidity risk (continued)
(i) Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2017

3 months
or less
RM'000

> 3 - 12
months
RM'000

>1-5
years
RM'000

Over 5
years
RM'000

No specific
maturity
RM'000

Total
RM'000

Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Other assets
Current tax assets
Statutory deposits with Bank
Negara Malaysia
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

1,612,916
615,025
16,473
187,727
-

238,151
7,178
-

100,524
1,267,869
183,653
-

3,417,744
-

3,143

1,612,916
100,524
5,538,789
207,304
187,727
3,143

2,432,141

245,329

1,552,046

3,417,744

139,012
152
3,121
145,428

139,012
152
3,121
7,792,688

Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of
customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial
institutions
Restricted investment accounts
due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk

1,802,362
2,245

691,812
-

12,530
23,245

-

-

2,506,704
25,490

-

-

-

730,481

-

-

-

1,772,932

-

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000
7,162,581

Net liquidity gap

730,481

-

790,176

982,756

1,239,455
17,659
127,063
4,709,441

449,922
7,151
712
2,132,353

(2,277,300)

(1,887,024)

185,012
220,787

100,000
100,000

1,331,259

3,317,744

145,428

630,107

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other
sources of funds of the Bank of RM 752 million and RM 4,787 million respectively.
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Liquidity risk (continued)
(ii) Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis
The following tables summarise financial liabilities of the Bank into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
contractual maturities as at the financial year end, on an undiscounted basis. The financial liabilities in this table will not
agree to the balances reported on the statement of financial position as the table incorporates all contractual cash flows,
on an undiscounted basis.
As at 31 December 2018

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to
designated financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Other liabilities

Gross financing commitments

As at 31 December 2017

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to
designated financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
Other liabilities

Gross financing commitments

3 months
or less
RM'000

> 3 - 12
months
RM'000

>1-5
years
RM'000

Over 5
years
RM'000

Total
RM'000

1,332,118
729,202

1,294,748
-

389,210

40,166

2,807,345
3,131
129,828
5,390,834

212,128
117,046
1,664,088

69,236
76,628

132,865
132,865

3,019,473
189,413
132,865
129,828
7,264,415

802

3,142,996

508,082

1,004,319

4,656,199

Over 5
years
RM'000

Total
RM'000

3 months
or less
RM'000

> 3 - 12
months
RM'000

3,750
3,642
-

-

2,630,616
3,642
729,202

-

-

429,376

>1-5
years
RM'000

1,807,659
2,245
733,292

699,985
-

13,104
23,245
-

-

2,520,748
25,490
733,292

794,892

994,190

-

-

1,789,082

1,246,530
17,659
127,063
4,729,340

455,969
7,151
712
2,158,007

185,012
221,361

129,100
129,100

1,702,499
209,822
129,100
127,775
7,237,808

90,726

550,729

3,304,015

945,059

4,890,529
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Market risk
(i) Profit rate risk
Profit rate risk is the impact to earnings and economic value of the Bank due to fluctuations in profit rates.
Banking book rate of return exposures arises from the differences in the maturities and repricing dates of assets, liabilities
and off-balance sheet items. These mismatches are actively monitored and managed as part of the overall banking book
rate of return risk management process which is conducted in accordance with the Bank's policies approved by the Board
of Directors.
The table below details the disclosure for the rate of return risk in the Banking Book, the increase or decline in earnings
and economic value for upward and downward rate shocks which are consistent with shocks applied in stress test for
measuring profit rate risk, broken down by various currencies where relevant:Impact on Positions as at Reporting Period
(200 basis points) Parallel Shift
(200 basis points) Parallel Shift
Increase/(Decline)
Increase/(Decline)
Earnings at Risk
Economic value
Earnings at Risk
Economic value
2018
2018
2017
2017
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
Currency
MYR
USD
AUD

5,656
(1,314)
(440)

(39,854)
(5,394)
181

5,532
(2,603)
-

(44,985)
(9,074)
-

Value at Risk for profit rate
The Bank adopts a daily VaR to estimate market risk within a 97.5% confidence interval using the historical simulation
method. The method assumes that possible future changes in market rates may be implied by observed historical market
movements. The level of VaR is dependent on the exposures, as well as market prices and volatilities. The Bank computes
market risk based on historical simulation VaR, this entails the estimation of tail loss based on the most recent historical
data, which may not always reflect the extreme loss event. The Bank runs market risk stress to complement the market risk
historical simulation VaR. The table below analyses daily VaR by primary category of profit rate risk:-

Non-trading

Average
RM'000
136

2018
High
RM'000
248

Low
RM'000
69

Actual
31 December 2018
RM'000
77

Non-trading

Average
RM'000
262

2017
High
RM'000
400

Low
RM'000
160

Actual
31 December 2017
RM'000
173
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Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk
The table below summarises the Bank’s foreign exchange positions by major currencies. “Others” mainly include Australian
Dollar, Euro, Japanese Yen and Hong Kong Dollar.

As at 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Other balances
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of
customers
Deposits and placements
of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts
due to designated financial
institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other balances
Subordinated sukuk

Total foreign currency
sensitivity gap

MYR
RM'000

USD
RM'000

GBP
RM'000

1,852,990
100,375
4,731,919
64,116
157,331
6,906,731

576,825
82,118
19,904
678,847

2,678
6,662
9,340

2,560,732
3,642

41,757
-

189
-

726,594

-

150,824

249,562

2,759,259
136,152
(2,255) ^
100,000
6,434,948

245,678
46,075
46,037
629,109

471,783

49,738

SGD
RM'000

Others
RM'000

Total
RM'000

125,737
753
126,490

124,952
124,952

1,852,990
100,375
5,308,744
399,601
184,650
7,846,360

65
-

1,187
-

2,603,930
3,642

-

-

-

726,594

-

-

28,200

428,586

6,662
(18) ^
6,833

91,533
91,598

2,507

34,892

524
(5,469) ^
24,442

100,510

3,004,937
189,413
129,828
100,000
7,186,930

659,430

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other
sources of funds of the Bank of RM 2,432 million and RM 2,877 million respectively.
^ Included in 'other balances' is a receivable from the immediate holding company, which will be settled net together with
balances in other currencies.
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Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2017
Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Other balances
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of
customers
Deposits and placements
of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts
designated financial
institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Other balances
Subordinated sukuk

Total foreign currency
sensitivity gap

MYR
RM'000

USD
RM'000

GBP
RM'000

SGD
RM'000

1,612,916
100,524
4,898,398
183,017
45,071
6,839,926

640,391
141,282
145,242
926,915

15,475
15,475

2,387,802
25,490

117,076
-

205
-

730,481

-

1,266,583

506,349

1,689,377
42,157
98,550
100,000
6,340,440

151,972
(56,011) ^
719,386

499,486

207,529

Total
RM'000

2,437
10
2,447

1,612,916
100,524
5,538,789
326,739
207,304
7,786,272

-

1,523
-

2,506,704
25,490

-

-

-

730,481

-

-

-

1,772,932

15,475
(210) ^
15,470

5

-

Others
RM'000

3
1,506
1,509

98

89,010
89,108

(87,599)

218
(3,564) ^
(1,823)

4,270

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000
7,162,581

623,691

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other
sources of funds of the Bank of RM 752 million and RM 4,787 million respectively.
^ Included in 'other balances' is a receivable from the immediate holding company, which will be settled net together with
balances in other currencies.
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The following are the estimated fair values of the financial assets and liabilities followed by a general description of the
methods and assumptions used in the estimation:Carrying value
2018
2017
RM'000
RM'000
Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Investment securities
Financing and advances *
Derivative financial assets
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions
Investment accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities
Subordinated sukuk

Fair Value
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

1,852,990
100,375
5,308,744
184,650

1,612,916
100,524
5,538,789
207,304

1,852,990
100,375
5,283,429
184,650

1,612,916
100,524
5,576,708
207,304

2,603,930
3,642
726,594

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

2,603,919
3,642
726,594

2,506,691
25,490
730,481

428,586

1,772,932

428,586

1,772,932

3,004,937
189,413
100,000

1,689,377
209,822
100,000

3,004,937
189,413
100,000

1,689,377
209,822
100,000

Other assets and other liabilities are considered short term in nature. Therefore, the carrying amounts approximate their fair
values respectively.
*

Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other
sources of funds of the Bank of RM 2,432 million (2017: RM 752 million) and RM 2,877 million (2017: RM 4,787 million)
respectively.

Methods and Assumptions
a) Financial Assets
(i) Cash and short term funds, deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions
The fair values of cash and short term funds, deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions are
equivalent to placement value as these are regarded as short term financial instruments, defined as those with remaining
maturities of less than one year and the carrying values are considered to be a reasonable estimate of their fair values.
For deposits and placements with a remaining maturity greater than one year, the fair values are arrived at by discounting
contractual future cash flows at the prevailing interbank rates for the remaining maturities as at the reporting date.

(ii) Investment securities
The estimated fair value is based on quoted or observable market prices at the reporting date. Where such quoted or
observable market prices are not available, the fair value is estimated using pricing models (such as dividend growth
model) or discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted using the prevailing market rates for a similar instrument at the reporting date.
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Methods and assumptions (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Financing and advances
The fair values of profit rate financing with remaining maturity of less than one year and variable profit rate financing are
estimated to approximate their carrying values. For fixed rate financing with maturities of more than one year, the fair
values are estimated based on expected future cash flows of contractual instalment payments and discounted at
prevailing rates at the reporting date offered for similar financing to new customers with similar credit profiles, where
applicable. In respect of impaired financing, the fair values are deemed to approximate the carrying values, net of
expected credit losses/individual impairment provisions.
(iv) Derivative financial instruments
Fair values of derivative instruments are normally zero or negligible at inception and the subsequent change in value is
financial assets (favourable) or financial liabilities (unfavourable) as a result of fluctuations in market profit rates or foreign
exchange rates relative to their terms. The fair values of the Bank’s derivative instruments are estimated by reference to
quoted market prices. Internal models are used where no market price is available.
(b) Financial liabilities
(i)

Deposits and placements from customers, banks and other financial institutions
The fair values for deposit liabilities payable on demand (demand and savings deposits) and fixed deposits with remaining
maturities of less than one year are estimated to approximate their carrying values at statement of financial position date.
The fair values of fixed deposits with remaining maturities of more than one year are estimated based on discounted cash
flows using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. The fair values of deposits are deemed to
approximate their carrying values as at statement of financial position date as the profit rates are determined at the end of
their holding periods based on the profit generated from the assets invested. For negotiable instruments of deposits, the
estimated fair values are based on quoted or observable market prices at the statement of financial position date. Where
such quoted or observable market prices are not available, the fair values of negotiable instrument of deposits are
estimated using discounted cash flow techniques.

(ii) Structured deposits
The fair values of structured deposits are typically valued using valuation techniques that incorporate observable market
inputs.
(iii) Investment accounts of customers and designated financial institutions
The fair value of investment accounts and designated financial institutions is equivalent to placement value as they are
regarded as short term financial instruments which are defined as those with remaining maturities of less than one year,
and the carrying fair value is considered to be a reasonable estimate of its fair values.
(iv) Derivative financial instruments
Fair values of derivative instruments are normally zero or negligible at inception and the subsequent change in value is
financial assets (favourable) or financial liabilities (unfavourable) as a result of fluctuations in market profit rates or foreign
exchange rates relative to their terms. The fair values of the Bank’s derivative instruments are estimated by reference to
quoted market prices. Internal models are used where no market price is available.
(v) Subordinated sukuk
The fair value of subordinated sukuk is estimated based on discounted cash flows using rates currently offered for debt
instruments of similar remaining maturities and credit grading.
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(c) Fair value hierarchy
The valuation hierarchy, and the types of instruments classified into each level within that hierarchy, is set out below:
Level 1

Level 2

Fair value detemined
using

Unadjusted quoted prices in
an active market for identical
assets and liabilities

Valuation models with directly Valuation models using
or indirectly market observable significant non-market
inputs
observable inputs

Type of financial assets

Actively traded government
and agency securities

Corporate and other
government sukuk and
financings

Private debt and equity
investments

Over-the-counter ("OTC")
derivatives
Cash and short term funds
Other assets

Corporate sukuk with illiquid
markets
Financing and advances

Type of financial liabilities

-

OTC derivatives

Level 3

-

Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of
customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial
institutions
Restricted investment
accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
c) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000

Fair value of financial instruments
not carried at fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000

Total
fair value
RM'000

Carrying
amount
RM'000

1,852,990
5,283,429

1,852,990
5,283,429

1,852,990
5,308,744

351,621

100,375
184,650
351,621

100,375
184,650
351,621

7,488,040

7,773,065

7,798,380

2018
Assets
Cash and short term funds
Financing and advances *
Investment securities
- Government Islamic bonds
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets

-

100,375
184,650
-

-

At 31 December 2018

-

285,025

Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Investment accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk

-

3,642
-

-

189,413
-

-

At 31 December 2018

-

193,055

-

-

-

-

-

1,852,990
-

5,283,429

100,375
184,650
-

-

351,621

-

285,025

-

2,204,611

-

3,642
-

-

2,603,919
726,594

-

2,603,919
726,594

2,603,919
3,642
726,594

2,603,930
3,642
726,594

-

428,586

-

428,586

428,586

428,586

189,413
-

-

3,004,937
129,828
100,000

-

3,004,937
129,828
100,000

3,004,937
189,413
129,828
100,000

3,004,937
189,413
129,828
100,000

193,055

-

6,993,864

-

6,993,864

7,186,919

7,186,930

5,283,429

Liabilities

-

-

-

-

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other sources of funds of the Bank of RM 2,432 million and RM 2,877
million respectively.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2018.
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
c) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000

Fair value of financial instruments
not carried at fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000
RM'000

Total
fair value
RM'000

Carrying
amount
RM'000

1,612,916
5,576,708

1,612,916
5,576,708

1,612,916
5,538,789

187,727

100,524
207,304
187,727

100,524
207,304
187,727

7,377,351

7,685,179

7,647,260

2017
Assets
Cash and short term funds
Financing and advances *
Investment securities
- Government Islamic bonds
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets

-

100,524
207,304
-

-

At 31 December 2017

-

307,828

Deposits from customers
Structured deposits
Investment accounts of customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Restricted investment accounts due to designated
financial institutions
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Subordinated sukuk

-

209,822
-

-

At 31 December 2017

-

235,312

-

-

-

-

-

1,612,916
-

5,576,708

100,524
207,304
-

-

187,727

-

307,828

-

1,800,643

25,490
-

-

25,490
-

-

2,506,691
730,481

-

2,506,691
730,481

2,506,691
25,490
730,481

2,506,704
25,490
730,481

-

-

-

-

1,772,932

-

1,772,932

1,772,932

1,772,932

209,822
-

-

1,689,377
127,775
100,000

-

1,689,377
127,775
100,000

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000

1,689,377
209,822
127,775
100,000

235,312

-

6,927,256

-

6,927,256

7,162,568

7,162,581

5,576,708

Liabilities

* Included in financing and advances are financing and advances funded by investment account placements and other sources of funds of the Bank of RM 752 million and RM 4,787 million
respectively.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2017.
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36. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
d) Derivative financial instruments
31 December 2018
Notional
principal
amounts
RM'000

Positive fair
value
RM'000

31 December 2017

Negative
fair value
RM'000

Notional
principal
amounts
RM'000

Positive fair
value
RM'000

Negative
fair value
RM'000

Foreign exchange
derivative contracts:- Forward foreign
exchange contracts
- Currency swaps

932,048
2,103,272

1,025
175,714

5,788
175,714

1,291,601
2,080,252

23,651
167,103

24,810
167,103

Profit rate derivative
contracts:- Swaps

1,389,619

7,911

7,911

1,487,573

16,550

17,909

Total derivatives

4,424,939

184,650

189,413

4,859,426

207,304

209,822

Derivative financial instruments by sector
31 December 2018
Notional
principal
amounts
RM'000
Mining and quarrying
Finance, takaful and business
services
Commerce
Others

3,699,572
2,094
723,273
4,424,939

Positive fair
value
RM'000
181,722
3
2,925
184,650

31 December 2017

Negative
fair value
RM'000
188,876
537
189,413

Notional
principal
amounts
RM'000
22,396
4,011,183
78,959
746,888
4,859,426

Positive fair
value
RM'000
188,038
218
19,048
207,304

Negative
fair value
RM'000
209,502
4
316
209,822
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37. Lease commitments
The Bank has lease commitments in respect of rented premises, all of which are classified as operating leases.
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable long term commitments is as follows:2018
RM'000
Less than one year
Between one and five years

2017
RM'000

952
1,770
2,722

935
1,094
2,029

38. Capital adequacy
The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are analysed as follows:2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Tier 1 Capital
Paid-up ordinary share capital
Share premium
Other reserves
Less: Deferred tax asset
Unrealised
financial instruments
(gains)/losses on investment securities

411,000
243,169
(6,063)
34

102,750
308,250
219,067
(3,128)
18

Common Equity Tier ("CET") 1 and Eligible Tier 1 capital

648,140

626,957

100,000
1,472

100,000
2,615

14,259
115,731

14,400
117,015

763,871

743,972

Tier 2 Capital
Subordinated sukuk
General provisions*/Collective impairment provisions
Surplus of total Eligible Provisions over total Expected
Loss under AIRB approach
Eligible Tier 2 capital
Total Capital Base
Breakdown of risk-weighted assets in the various categories of risk-weights are as follows:-

2018
RM'000
Total risk-weighted assets
- credit risk
- operational risk

2,449,970
309,136
2,759,106
2018

CET 1 capital ratio
Tier 1 capital ratio
Risk-weighted capital ratio

23.491%
23.491%
27.685%

2017
RM'000
2,716,763
320,217
3,036,980
2017
20.644%
20.644%
24.497%

* General provision refers to loss allowances measured at an amount equal to 12-month and life time expected credit losses
as defined under MFRS 9, Financial Instruments , to the extent they are ascribed to non-credit-impaired exposures,
determined under standardised approach for credit risk.
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39. Sources and uses of charity funds
Earnings that were realised from sources or by means prohibited by Shariah have been considered for disposal to charitable
causes.
2018
RM'000

2017
RM'000

Sources of charity funds
6
5
11

-

Contribution to non-profit organisation
Total uses of charity funds during the year

(11)
(11)

-

Undistributed charity funds as at 31 December

-

Balance as at 1 January
Shariah non-compliant income
Total sources of charity funds during the year

6
6

Uses of charity funds

6

40. Impact of adoption of MFRS 16
The effective date of MFRS 16 is 1 January 2019. MFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of
low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
The Bank will have a balance sheet increase in lease liabilities and right of use assets on the statement of financial position
upon the adoption of MFRS 16. The initial adoption is estimated to increase the Bank’s total assets and total liabilities by
RM2.4 million. There will not be an adjustment to retained earnings in respect of adoption.

41. Change in comparatives
Certain comparatives in the financial statements have been restated to align with the current year presentation due to the new
disclosure requirements introduced by BNM and new accounting standards.
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Supplementary information
The Bank applied the MFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("MFRS 9") for the year ended 31 December 2018. The 2017 comparative
period has not been restated, and the MFRS 139, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("MFRS 139")
requirements have been applied.

Significant accounting policies applied for the year ended 31 December 2017
(Extracted from audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017)

(a) Financial instruments
i)

Initial recognition and measurement
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument.
An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if, it
is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not
categorised at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised
separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.

ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement
The Bank categorises financial instruments as follows:Financial assets
A)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value through profit or loss category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets that are held for trading,
including derivatives (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument), contingent consideration in a business combination or and financial assets that are specifically
designated into this category upon initial recognition.
Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.
Other financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values
with the gain or loss recognised as net trading income in profit or loss. Profit income from the financial assets held
for trading, calculated using the effective profit method, is recognised in profit or loss.

B)

Investment securities held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank
has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity and which are not designated as held for trading nor available-forsale. These securities are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method. A gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income when the securities are derecognised. Amortisation of premium or
accretion of discount for securities are also recognised in profit or loss.
Any sale or reclassification of a significant amount of investment securities held-to-maturity not close to their maturity
would result in the reclassification of all investment securities held-to-maturity to investment securities available-forsale, and prevent the Bank from classifying similar class of securities as investment securities held-to-maturity for
the current and following two financial years.
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Supplementary information (continued)
Significant accounting policies applied for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (continued)
C)

Financing and receivables
Financing and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and it is expected that substantially all of the initial investment will be recovered, other
than those due to credit deterioration. Financial assets classified under this category include Cash and short term
funds and Financing and advances.
Financial assets are categorised as financing and receivables under various Shariah contract types. These contracts
are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the financing including
direct and incremental transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective profit
method. The amortised cost of the financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition, less principal payment, plus or less the cumulative amortisation using the effective profit method of any
difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, less any reduction for impairment. These
contracts are stated net of unearned income and any amount written off and/or impaired.

D)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale assets are those non-derivative financial assets intended to be held for an indefinite period of time,
which may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions.
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. Other financial assets categorised as available-for-sale are
subsequently measured at their fair values with the gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items and gains and losses of
hedged items attributable to hedge risks of fair value hedges which are recognised in statement of other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from other comprehensive income into profit or loss. Profit calculated for a debt instrument using the
effective profit method is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Income from investment securities available-for-sale (including zero coupon debt instruments), calculated using the
effective profit method, is recognised in profit or loss.
All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for
impairment.

Financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Bank include Deposits from customers, Investment accounts of customers, Deposits and
placements of banks and other financial institutions, Investment accounts due to designated financial institutions,
Financial derivatives, Other liabilities and Subordinated Sukuk.
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised as fair value through
profit or loss.
Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, derivatives (except for a
derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument), contingent
consideration in a business combination or financial liabilities that are specifically designated into this category upon initial
recognition.
Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost.
Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values
with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
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Supplementary information (continued)
Significant accounting policies applied for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
iii)

Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses at each end of reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred "loss event") and that loss event has an impact on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that an issuer of securities or a customer or a group of customers is
experiencing significant financial difficulties, default or delinquency in profit or principal payment, that it is possible that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial recognition and that there are observable data indicating a reasonable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlates with
default.
A)

Securities
The carrying amount of the Bank's securities are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment on the securities or group of securities. If any such evidence exists, the Bank will
apply the following:▪

Securities carried at amortised cost
The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the securities' carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at its original effective profit rate. The carrying amount of the
securities is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

▪

Investment securities available-for-sale
The cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income shall be removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss even though the securities have not been
derecognised. The amount of cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (net
of any principal payment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that securities
previously recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity investment classified as availablefor-sale, is not reversed through profit or loss.
If, in subsequent periods, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised in profit or loss,
that portion of impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed what
the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

B)

Financing and advances
The carrying amount of the Bank's financing and advances are reviewed at each statement of financial position date
to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment subject to BNM's minimum requirement of classifying
financing and advances as impaired where customers accounts are classified as 'impaired', where payments are in
arrears for more than 90 days for financing, and 30 days after maturity date for trade bills, bankers' acceptance and
trust receipts. If such evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the financing and advances is estimated. Individual
impairment provisions are provided in the statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying amount of the
impaired financing and advances exceeds its recoverable amount (being the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at customer effective rate). The estimated future cash flows are based on projection of liquidation
proceeds from realisation of collateral assets or estimates of future operating cash flows.
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Supplementary information (continued)
Significant accounting policies applied for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)
iii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
B)

Financing and advances (continued)
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Bank determine that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in group of financial assets with similar credit characteristics and
collectively assess them for impairment.
Uncollectible financing and advances or portion of financing and advances which are classified as bad is written off
after taking into consideration the discounted realisable value of the collateral, if any, when in the judgement of the
management, there is no prospect of recovery.
For financing converted into debt or equity instruments, these financial instruments are measured at their fair value.
The difference between the net book value of the restructured financing (outstanding amounts of financing and
advances net of individual impairment provisions) and the fair value of the debt or equity instruments will be the gain
or loss from the conversion exercise.

Approach to remuneration
The Bank's remuneration approach is aligned to that of its ultimate holding company, Standard Chartered PLC.
The Bank's remuneration arrangements ensure that the Bank can reward colleagues for the progress made on the execution of its
strategy and appropriately incentivise colleagues to deliver strong performance over the long-term whilst avoiding excessive and
unnecessary risk-taking.
Employees typically receive salary, pension and other benefits and are eligible to be considered for variable remuneration
(determined based on both business and individual performance).

(a) Fair pay charter
Attracting, retaining and incentivising high quality employees is essential to delivering on the Bank's purpose and executing the
strategy. In support of this, the Bank has adopted the Fair Pay Charter developed by Standard Chartered PLC, which sets out
the principles the Bank will use to determine and deliver pay for all employees, including senior management.
1)
2)
3)

4)
5)
6)

The Bank commits to pay a living wage by 2020 and seek to go beyond compliance with minimum wage requirements.
The Bank provides an appropriate mix of fixed and variable pay and a core level of benefits to ensure a minimum level of
earnings and security to colleagues and to reflect its commitment to wellbeing.
The Bank supports colleagues in working flexibly, in ways that balance both business needs and the colleagues' personal
circumstances, and provide colleagues with the opportunity to select the combination and level of benefits that is right for
the employees.
Pay is well administered with colleagues paid accurately, on time and in a way that is convenient.
The Bank provides a competitive total fixed and variable pay opportunity that enables the Bank to attract, motivate and
retain colleagues based on market rates for their role, location, performance, skills and experience.
The structure of pay and benefits is consistent for colleagues based on their location and role, with a clear rationale for
exceptions.
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Supplementary information (continued)
Approach to remuneration (continued)
(a) Fair pay charter (continued)
7)

The Bank is committed to rewarding colleagues in a way that is free from discrimination on the basis of diversity, as set
out in the Bank's Code of Conduct.
8) The Bank ensures pay decisions reflect the performance of the individual, the business the colleagues work in and the
Bank, and recognise the potential, conduct, behaviours and values demonstrated by each individual.
9) The Bank sets clear expectations for how colleagues are rewarded and the principles guiding decisions, including clear
personal objectives and feedback.
10) The Bank provides clear communication of pay and performance decisions, and seek feedback and input from colleagues
on its pay structures and outcomes.
The Fair Pay Charter reflects the Banks existing remuneration approach in many areas, but also sets some new, stretching
goals which will take a number of years to reach. The Bank have already implemented many of these principles and further
progress is planned to work towards implementation of these new objectives.

(b) Alignment to remuneration regulations
The table below provides examples of how the Bank's remuneration policies, practices and governance framework comply
with regulatory requirements.
i)

Effective governance of remuneration

Overview of Remuneration Example of how we are aligned
Policy and Practice
Governance
The management body in its
supervisory
function
has
appropriate oversight of, and
periodically reviews, the general
principles of the remuneration
policy

Remuneration policies
The
remuneration
policies,
practices and procedures are
aligned with the long-term
interests of the entity, promote
sound
and
effective
risk
management
and
include
measures to avoid conflicts of
interest

-

-

-

-

-

Pension policy
The pension policy is aligned
with the long-term interests of the
entity

-

The Bank's Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“the Committee”) is comprised
of independent non-executive directors. The effectiveness of the Committee and the
quality of the information it receives is reviewed on an annual basis.
The Committee is responsible to review and approve the Bank remuneration approach
annually, which includes information on the governance, the structure of remuneration
and how remuneration is aligned to conduct, risk management and remuneration rules
and principles.
The Bank’s Board Risk Committee (“BRC”) reviews the implementation of a sound
remuneration system and to examine whether incentives provided by the remuneration
system has been taken into consideration the risks, capital, liquidity and the likelihood
and timing of earnings, without prejudice to the tasks of the Committee.
The Committee is responsible to approve the remuneration including variable
remuneration for each member of senior management and other material risk taker on
an annual basis, which takes into account risk, control and conduct matters and the
Bank's performance and capital position
The Bank's remuneration policies align variable remuneration with risk in the following
ways:
▪ identification of colleagues whose professional activities could have a material
impact on the risk profile of the Bank (i.e. MRTs);
▪ alignment with long-term performance through the Bank’s deferral mechanism;
▪ ensuring that MRTs meet the regulatory requirements in respect of the variable
remuneration cap, deferral, shares, retention and vesting periods; and
▪ provisions to enable the application of risk adjustments.
No colleague is involved in the determination of their own remuneration

The Bank's pension policy is regularly reviewed to ensure it is in line with the local
legislation changes, Bank’s business strategy and long-term interests
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Approach to remuneration (continued)
(b) Alignment to remuneration regulations (continued)
ii)

Effective alignment of remuneration with prudent risk taking: approach to Group-wide remuneration

Overview of Remuneration Example of how we are aligned
Policy and Practice
Control Function
Colleagues engaged in financial
and risk control are independent,
have appropriate authority, and
are compensated in a manner
that is independent of the
business areas they oversee and
commensurate with their key role
in the entity
Risk alignment
Remuneration pay-out schedules
are sensitive to the time horizon
of risks

-

-

-

-

Risk management
Remuneration is adjusted for all
types of risk. Remuneration
outcomes are symmetric with risk
outcomes

-

-

-

Remuneration and capital
Total remuneration does not limit
the entity's ability to strengthen
the entity's capital base

Personal investment strategies
Personal hedging strategies are
not used by colleagues to
undermine the risk alignment
effects
embedded in their
remuneration arrangements

-

-

The methodology for determining individual variable remuneration awards ensures that
colleagues in Control Functions (including Audit, Compliance and Risk) are not
incentivised to drive the performance of the business areas they control
The remuneration of Control Functions is in line with market practice to attract and
retain talent

Under the deferral mechanism, colleagues with awards above a specific threshold are
required to defer part of any variable remuneration award into Standard Chartered PLC
shares, rather than the award being paid entirely in cash
The deferral mechanism applies to variable compensation awards of all colleagues
globally
The thresholds of the deferral mechanism are reviewed to ensure appropriate
alignment to market and regulatory best practice

The Committee approves aggregate variable remuneration, taking into consideration
financial performance, capital strength and long-term performance, and strategic
factors
Ex-ante risk adjustments, which adjust remuneration for intrinsic risks that are inherent
in the Bank's business activities, can be made in the form of collective adjustments to
aggregate incentives
Ex-post risk adjustments, which adjust remuneration for crystallisation of specific risk
events, can be made in the form of collective adjustments to aggregate incentives,
individual in-year adjustments, malus and/or clawback

The BRC takes into account capital strength and related information in its review and
approval of aggregate variable remuneration
CFO or his/her delegates provide an update to Committee on the Bank's financial
position at each meeting

The Bank’s Personal Account Dealing procedure prohibits hedging in the Standard
Chartered PLC's shares
It is formally communicated to colleagues that they should not use personal hedging
strategies to undermine the risk alignment effects embedded in their variable
remuneration

Page 108

Company No. 823437K

STANDARD CHARTERED SAADIQ BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Supplementary information (continued)
Approach to remuneration: Standard Chartered PLC (continued)
(b) Alignment to remuneration regulations (continued)
iii)

Effective alignment of remuneration with prudent risk taking: structure of individual remuneration

Overview of Remuneration Example of how we are aligned
Policy and Practice
Pay mix
The mix of cash, equity and other
forms
of
remuneration
is
consistent with risk alignment

Remuneration structures
Remuneration is structured to be
consistent with and promote
effective risk management
The structure of remuneration,
including the remuneration of
MRTs is aligned to regulatory
requirements

-

-

-

Buy-outs
To
comply
with
specific
requirements when buying-out
the
deferred
variable
remuneration award of an
individual who was a MRT in
their previous firm

-

-

The Bank's deferral mechanism for variable remuneration sets out that at least fifty per
cent of deferred awards must be paid in deferred shares
MRTs are subject to a maximum 1:2 fixed to variable remuneration ratio
The Bank retains the flexibility to pay zero variable remuneration

The Bank’s performance is assessed against performance scorecard
Individual variable remuneration is determined on the basis of the Bank, business area
and individual performance. Individual performance is determined by considering what
was achieved and how this was achieved in the context of the Bank’s valued
behaviours
Guaranteed variable remuneration is only provided in exceptional cases and in respect
of new hires, in line with regulatory guidance
Variable remuneration for MRTs is subject to a maximum 1:2 fixed to variable
remuneration ratio and requirements related to the proportion deferred, delivery in
shares, retention and vesting periods
Non-executive directors are not awarded variable remuneration

The Bank applies appropriate retention, deferral and performance arrangements to buyouts to ensure that buy-outs are aligned with the Bank’s long-term interests. The
arrangements are no shorter than the conditions applied by the previous firm
The Bank's remuneration policies include provisions relating to the treatment of buyouts for MRTs, so that buy-outs do not limit the ability to apply malus and clawback
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